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College Days, Early Political Experiences, then and thereafter.
1877 - 1887
PART II
Nomination, Election and Service in the Pennsylvania Legislature.
1888 - 1890
PART III
A. Gandidécy at two successive primeries for the Republican nemination for Congresse

BE. The aftermath of the above campaigns,

PART IV

Nomination, Election and Service in the 58th Congress.
1902 - 1905

PART V

Preparation of monographs on National Police Power, the Constitutionality of
Federal laws protecting migratory birds/ and migratory fish, the Comstitutionality
of the Protective Tariff, the Unconstitutionality of the Canadian Reciprocity Agree-
ment, the Character of the Federal Jurisdiction over Public Heslth, the need of a
senarate League of Nations in America and Europe, the history of the original Migra-
tory Brid Bill,
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PART T
College Days, Early Political Experiences, then and thereafter.
1877 - 1887

Collegze Days
A. Cornell

1, Greek letter fraternities.

. Thesis on the U.S. Constitution.

%, Political Activities at Cornell.

4, First and last meetings with Theodore Rooseveli
B, Yale Law School

1, Class mates (nespaper article on Col. House. )

2, Debates.

3, Thesis on the Protéctive Tariff.

4, Academic rating.

5. Decline election to the Presidency of Kent Club.

Begin the Practice of Law,
L, Starting out as a lawyer.
B. The case of the forge will - circumstantial and direct evidence.

"4 Pig Iron State and a Pigmy Statesman”

A, The election of Senator Quay.

B. Circulation of the pamphlet entitled "4 Pig Iron State, ate."

C. Comments of the public and an attempt to bring Senator Quay to trial in a
1libel suit against the author.

D, Newspaper clippingse.

PART II
Nomination, Election and Service in the Pannsylvania Legislature.
1888 - 1890,

Gampaign for the Legislature.
A Becomes a Candidate for the Legislature.

B. Campaipg Cards and literature. &E‘tﬁ:&
C. A political story - "A Beer Bottle and a .
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5, The Legislature as a politiecal training school.
A, Personnel of the Legislature.
B, The Legislature as a political training school.

6. Bank legislation and its strange sequels.
A, Some bank legislation.
B, A deadlock, defeat of the Bill, consequences.

7. Miscellaneous legislative record.
A, Gets a surprise (initiation to the Legislature),
B. The Legislature convenes.
1, The Pennsylvania R.R. Pass.
2, Committee assignments.
3. Friendly treatment by the leaders.

Ce A Proposed illegal act and its final enactment in that form (the Distilleries Bill)

D. The Grade Crossing Bill.

E. Clippings on the Grade Crossing Bill.

F,. Bill for better treatment of insane females.
G. Picture of State Capitol, Harrisburg.

H., Expressions of good will from colleagues on the Judiciary Committee. . s
\Jl ‘K£44$LL1?M/°*“*ﬂJhy Q,-gnuufnaié*-4(4U1u3§% -oﬂTJ.Jc.eJl-eL4p,hquaédrcg/ié:?b~4$uz::”o
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PART III £/
Cendidacy at Two Successive Primaries for “he Republican
Nomination for Congress. Tha af'termath of these campaigns.

8.

“he—emmpmi-r—Lfep Gemeuess ereinst Sols L 0o1G,
4. Nomination of Stone. Yo = SIS L L /
B, Contested election of delagat;;B

C. Had to give up his stolen coat.
D. Closing days of the campaign.

E. Nominated in ancther conventjion. 5
F, Newspaper clippiwsko—dﬂ «./eﬂ—:&a—a-/(d“—’h-‘—’
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A successful reform movement and the conviction and imprisomment of Mayor Wymen
4, A successful reform movement.
B. Report of the auditors,.
1. The Mayor brought to trial.
2+ The Mayor convicted.
Ce A revealing interview and its conseguences.
1. The Mayor's relation to the Bayne and Stone campaigns.
2, Mayor gets workhouse instead of pennitentiary sentence.
D, Beginnings of a new regime.
l.Kennedy becomes llayor.
2. Father appointed to Supreme Court.
3, Retire from politics to work in law firm.
E. Circulars of the Citizens Committee.

Attempted impeachment of Judge White.

A, Disquieting rumors.

B, Preparation of Impeachment Resolution,.

C. Resolution temporarily sidetracked.

D. Preparetions for consideration of the Resolution,
E, Interview Graham and get correspondence with White,
F, Some subsequent discoveries.

G. Notarized statement of Carles V. Robison.

H, Letters. to ¥r, Shiras.on the White Case,

I. Letters from Mr, Shiras on the White case.

J. Newspaper clippings.

Redeeming VWest Virginia

A, Hunting deer and votes in West Virginia.

B. Letter from Finence Committee to raise funds to redeem West Virginia.
C. Letter from W.E. Seymour (1896) asking help in raising money.

Friendships of the "EKnights of the Round Table"

PART IV
NOMINATION? ELECTION AND SERVICE IN THE 58th CONGRESS.
1902 - 1905

The Citizens Party.

A, Organizeation to overthmow the Republican ring.

B. Accepts nomination for Congress (June 18, 1902).

C. Address by Mr. Shiras on "Ring Rule".(September, 1902),
D. Blection to Congress (1902).

E, Some Campaign Literature. &
F. Newspaper clippingse .XV - &/'».»-LA;:/Z f’-’g“"’" 2 Z
R G S s e Ll - - oS SESS—— .
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15. The 58th Congress.
A, Unique history of the 58th Congress (incomplets.)
B. First Session of the 58th Congress (incompletes)
C. Older members of the 58th Congress.,
D, New members in the 58th Congress.
E. Prominent leaders who served in the 58th Congress,

1,(Contains detailed account of Sheppard,)
F, Some of the distinguished Senators serving during the 58th Congress,
G. Vice Presidential Candidates in the 58th Congress.
1.(Garner should be added to this list.)

H. The daily routine in Congress.

I. Special and general legislation.

J. Cloak room intimacies.

K. Wits of the House.

L. First impressions often valusble.

1, Need of new standing committees.

1. Newspaper clippings.

0. Letter — "Sorry I was not a Cendidate for Re-Electio

P U e

16, The 58th Congress - Committee on Public Lands.,
A, Appointement of House Committees.
B, Members of Committee on Public Lands.
C. Repeal of the Timber and Stohe Act.
D, National Park in Washington.
B, H.R. 710443 or Elk National -Park.
F, Record of hearings on Homesteads in South Dekota and Colorado.
Gs Relief o settlers in Oregon.
H. Message from the President to the Public Lands Commission.
I, Miscellaneous,

17, Contested election case of Connel vs. Howell,
A. Events leading up to the contest,
B. Congressional Record on the case,
C. The vote and eventual results,
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.\\ ; ;' PHILLIPS ACADEMY, ANDOVER ~ q;?gggiﬁz; =
It was a momentous day when, in 1876, my brother and I decided to enter an
Eastern preparatory school, We selected Phillips Academy at Andover, Massachusetts
because it was an excellent place at which to prepare for entering Yale University,

from which father had graduated in 1853, and to which we also expected to go.
Father accompanied us to Andover expecting we might become homesick on breaking
the family ties so completely.

With our perents we had spent the five preceding summers on the South shore
of fake Superior, fishing, camping-out, and even successfully hunting deer in
the early fall, Such an outdoor life had innured us to many hardships. But
at home, easy, good-natured tutors had not satisfacterily prepared us for the
thorough and exacting curriculum maintained for so many years at Andover,

We secured rooms in a boarding house managed by an industrious housewife
whose husband always told@ one he was "Blunt by name and blunt by nature."” We
later ceme to interpret this statement as meaning that he had no seruples
sgainst living off his wife.

Here, we were given comfortable quarters in a large first floor room, in which
Uncle Tom's Cabin hed been written many years before. To me, everything seemed
quite cheerful. But from the very first night, my brother began restlessly
pacing the floor, nearly wearing out the carpet during the following week.

Finally, he got up courage to write home saying that if they would let him return,
he would take up "solid reading such as Dickens and Thackery." This promise
caused much amisement in the home cirele, for the works of these two novelists
were then considered light reading and not heavy literature. Howeve#, his
request to go home was sympathetically received and agreed to.

My brother's opinion of Thackery and Dickens would not be considered so
amusing today, for few modern young persons are very familiar with the writings
of these two great English authors. Young people no# too often read an endless
number of worthless, sensational, and meretricious novels; to them, Thackery

end Dickens would, doubtless, be "solid reading”.
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2 4 SATNTS AND STNNERS /\7

One pleasantly warm Saturday afternoon when spring was awakening,
three of us deeided to take a long walk into the country. One of my
companions was the youngest son of Ambassador Pierpont, Ministér to the
Court of St. James, and the other, a popular, happy-go-lucky fellow named
McCormick, from Chicago, the son of the president of a harvester company,
who too often spent his time in social activities.

Our plan was to make a circle of about eight miles and return toward
evening, After starting it was decided to continue on in a straight course
to the industrial town of Lowell, from which place we would return on the
evening train. Upon arriving at our destination we called upon a classmate
named Church, and were aghast when he told us there was no evening train on

Saturdey. He courteously asked us to stay overnight with him, and we

could then take the Boston Express the following morning, which passed through
Andover in time for the morning chapel. On board the train we talked the
situation over, and were much concerned when young Pierpont said: "On

Monday morning we'll call on 'Banty' and explain how we happened to stay out
of town during the night without a permit.”

At the head of the Academy for many years was President Bancroft, shall
of stature and ceaselessly active. His nickname 'Banty' was not in deregation,
though some of the students thought he did too much "snocping about' in his
anxiety to watch over the callow youths ranging between fourteen and sixteen
years of age, and often Subject to temptations, especially with Boston only
an hour away.

In reply to the suggestion that we call on Bancroft and offer an explan-
ation for the failure to return Saturday night, McCormick exclaimed: "This
would be the end of me for I already have a sufficient number of marks
which, if added t¢, might mean my susp?nsion. My father who is a just man
but a striect disciplinarian would not understand such punishment, if I told

him that I was not guilty of anything more serious than an innocent trip
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to Lowell, although my conduct heretofore might be eriticized for carelessness
in my studies, but otherwise I was in good standing with the students and
Community. Therefore you should not mention my name as one of your companions.”
To this the saintly scion of the Ambassador said: " I can't agree to this,
because it might ereate a scandal involving my father if it should appear that
I had not been truthful.”

On Monday morning we appeared at the President's office, offering an
explanation for having been away from school overnight. In a foreboding tone
he told us that the matter would be laid befor the faculty, and to return the
next morning to hear the result. At the appBinted time we were informed that
MeCormick had been dropped from his class, and the other two culprits rebuked.
It was plain, however, that Bancroft regarded the Ambassador's son as the
acme of virtue, which probably caused him to lessen the penalty against me
in order to be consistent.

Following this announcement I noticed an expression on McCormick's face
indicating his deep resentment, and we wondered what he was going to do
about it, but were not left long in doubt.

At midnight the firebells eclanged, while a ruddy light was seen in the
direction of the campus. Cautiously approaching, we saw in the center of
the campus a blazing heap of shutters that had been removed from the north
dormitory, then largely unoccupied. Dancing about and waving a firebrand
our ousted companion was apparently having an animated talk with Bancroft,
who had directed that the young Chicagoan return to his room at once.

The next morning MeCormick called on me to say farewell, and to express
pretty strongly his feeling towards Béncroft and the Ambassador's son. I
asked him what he had said to Bancroft the night before, and he replied:

"I told him that it was better to be drastically punished for a proven wrong
than unjustly disgraced for an innocent act, and therefore, everyone ought to

be satisfied with the result of my recent conduct.”
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COLTECE "DAYS

Artet: spending an interesting yeéar, {u-3826, at Phillips Academy la—dmdover,
Vessachuselts, I prepered to enter Cornell University in the fall. This choice
was partly influenced by the fact that Andrew D, White, its President, had been
a Yale classmate of my fathers, The year I entered Cornell, however, President
White became Ambassador to Germany.

Ahother faector which influencéd this choice was my desire to take a classiesl

course, but to avoid any entrance requirement in Greek or the necessity of taking

: - alle, alhtae

w5 !_ylﬂﬂ. SR~ Was o J ol
it as an undergraduate. Cornell had m;rﬁe_ﬁing\ Greek-for-g €lassical coursed

~ N LJ\JJ—:‘ W b
When I suggested this latter reason to my father, he agreed that Greek was of
very little practical value after graduation. Thereupon, I remarked knowingle
that he must have disliked Greek as much as I did., I was somewhat chagrined

A

when father replied he had received the HH@Y¥ey Greek Prize at Yale as the one
best qualified among the undergraduates for this honor, Greek, he explained,

unlike Latin was difficult to make satisfactory use of without constant refsrence

to the lexicon., This was a verification of my views that I had not anticipated.
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As I look back to my college days, it seems to me that the outstanding

influence to which I was su bJected was my years of essoviation eitb the
M! fcﬂn.um A aft

Alpha Delta Phi fraternity. = The ﬂerbers re housed in an sdequate oullding, zith!'
/e

a commodious living room and librery, lodge room on the third floor, and ample
suites of bed rooms. Their contacts were of necessity, and indeed from choice,
intimate.

Most of the American colleges and universities have from ten to twenty
Creek letter fraternities. Princeton, which has developed the college club,
has none., Harverd looks upon them as social clubs, Yale has a one year system
for junior societies, They have a hundred or more members and are looked on
es stepping stones to the more exclusive senior societies., In the other insti-
tutions, as a rule, fraternity membership is open to members of all classes.

The close personal contact with fepaternity associates for so many years
results, as a matter of course, in the closest intimacy and lays the foundatiog
at the very time when friendship is most easily cultivated end meintained, for
lifelong friendships. The fraternity memberships, representing widely separated
parts of the xxm country, are a cross section of American life. The associations
in them, thus, thend to _give the individual = much more understending view of
his own people than can be obtained in the class room or as a spectator on
the athletic field. I found the debates and discussions during the weekly
meeting in the lodge of great interest and benefit, While I believe it is
quite true that the social life within the chapter detracted somewhat from the
quality of the work within the class room, yet all learning is not to be found
within the text books. I am convinced that in most cases what is gained from
fraternity life goes far to make up for what may be lost because of it in the

class room.
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DUCK SlEOOED%G ON CAYUGA LAKE : LF
My particuler diversion away from the campus during my college life was

duck shooting on Cayuge lake. I had killed many deer on my annual visits to the
Lake Superior country and had got my full share of wild pL‘geonQ and gz::gree

but Leke Superior, A large, deep, and cold, harbored few, if any,-auhdertibhﬁdéié'
My shooting companions on Lake Cayuga were fellow collegians and,on occasion§
sportsmen in the town. I have always felt that these outings contributed greatly
to my good health, and they gave me an impetus to teke that interest in wild life

whiech was to be so intensified in future years,
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"I Saw Him Die With ly Little Eye."

In the early eighties when camping on the main shore opposite
Grand Island, and where the trout fishing proved excellent we had an
unexpected adventure. Late in the evening when the older members of
the party and the guides had retired three ofézg::?t about a blazing camp
fire. Looking towards a group of bushes fairly illuminated by the fire, I
saw suddenly a 1ong,thinjtawny-colored enimal pass by. &t that time
there were no houses in the vicinity and the flat upon which we were
camping was a favorite place for deer. Telling my two companions
that the animal was undoubtedly a deer I suggested that we rig up the
big jacklight and go in pursuit of 1t. One of the party carried the
light while I had a rifle and the other a shot gun.

We had gone down the shore emdy & short distance when a pair of
glowing eyes was seen fifty yards ahead. The light was then elevated
four or five feet, and we knelt beneath it, the rifle, and shot gun
eimed at the animal. Our understanding was that when the rifle was
fired the shot gun should also be discharged, but after the report of
the rifle the other gun was silent. Just as I was about to question my
compenion why he had not shot there came from the thicket ahead a weird
sound unlike anything any of us had ever heard before-- a long drawn’
dsequuavering wail. A4s we arose to our feet I expressed my astonishment
and sdded that the animal was evidently not a deer for no hoofed beast
would make such a cry. The presence of e mountain lion would have

accounted for it if such animals had ever been known in this region.
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When we cautiously approached the spot where the animal had been
we saw a long yellow body lying on the ground with its head concealed by a
drooping branch. Vhen it was lifted a great head was revesled with-trfj
teeth glistening in its heavy jaws. The animal appeered to our excited
minds to welgh more than 150 pounds and we could scarcely credit our eyes
and believe it was a dog. 1t must have been a cross between some great
hound and a mastiff. Exemination showed that it had been shot close to
the heart.

In my embarrassment I asked my companion why he had not shot to
which he replied thet he hed been so excited he could not do so at the

proper time. « nen informe h‘t} companions) that we were all guilty and

thet—me must conceal the evidence of this occurrence. The heavy carcass

wes dragged to the lake shore and efter a heavy stone had been attached
to it B waes teken out in the canoce and dropped overboard into deep water.
The crestfallen young hunters then returned to cemp where finding no
evidence that the shot had been heard]ﬁgréuietly retired.

A week lster when sbout to leave liarquette for & camping trip up
the lake shore we heard en altercation on the dock between our guide, Jake
Brown,end a tall thin Frenchman r&n almost came to blows. Then Jake
joined the party on the launch excleiming sngrily" That darned Kanuck
claimed that our party had made away with his dog when we were camplng near
Grand Islend. He sald that he used it in winter to haul cordwood and let
it run loose during the summer.” SI told him", continued Jake, "thet we
had never seen his dog and if he wented a fight he could have one."

Jake's sturdy defense convinced the Frenchman that we were innocent.
Leter on and from a source unknown to him the owner was compensated for

the loss of his huge canine. 'The following Christmas the three night
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POLITICAL INTERESTS D E.&. HOUSE M

Before going to college, I had only a casual interest in politieal
affairs. I entered Cornell University in the fall of 1877, but it was until
the fall of 1880, during the concluding days of the presidential campaign between
Gerfield end Hancock that I became interested in the outcome of a national
election. Among my intimate classmates and & member of the same fraternity
was Edwand%?l House, who in latey’years became a leader of the Democrats in
his native state of Texas and during President Wilson's terms of office became
his close friend and adviser. House is still well-remembered for his freguent
representing of the President abrosd during the World War and thereafter, in
the capacity of spokesman or special envoy.

4s I recall it, House and I were the only members of the fraternity
suffieiently interested in the campaigp to visit the newstand every evening
to get without delay a cooy of the day's issue of the llew York Tribune and World,
the leading organs of our respeciive parties. I ventured to make a few
addresses in some of the country sbhool houses where callow utter=nces would
be endured, But House, never given to public speaking, helped with his
sdvice and finsnces, the cavse of the local Democratic organizations. At that
time, I discovered thoseelerments in Col. House which ef terwards made him one of
the outstanding figures in American public life, He was quiet and suave in
manner with a remarkable eptitude for understanding almost any situation
whether it be political or relating to the social life of his college mates,
He frequently became the peacemaker in the many little controversies arising
among us. His unruffled demeanor did not mean that he lacked spirit or
courage, for deep within him was a touch of southern temper that became manifest

on several occasionse
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THESISSON TE U.S. CONSTITUTION CAsed

During the senior year, the classmen were asked to prepare a paper on
some significant subject in which they were particularly interested. With
youthful temerity, I selected as my theme, "The Origin and Objects of the United
States Constitution". That it was a erude and superficial endeavor was quite
inferable from the polite appraisement made by the professor into whose hands
i%® went: "Please read your paper again after you have been out of college
four years. You will then realize more clearly what I have in mind them if I
were to write a criticism now." In later years I well understood what he
meant, but I was pleased to find some paragraphs that seemed to possess some
merit in my more metured judgement. I guote one:
"The Constituticn of the United States is not an iron band wpon the body
corporate and consirictive of future growth, but like the bark of a tree,
it expends to meet new and unforeseen necessities. itile supposedly consisting
only of cnumerated powers, all others “eing reserved to the ctates of the
people, tnere are many cther powers which can ‘e implied f£rom +»c genexa
purposes of the central govermment or which are inherent zs the necess-ry
attributes of sovereignty. Consecuently, 1t is not always necessary to

amend the Bonstitution when some additional powers are needed, but these can
come by julieiel interpretation or by acts of Congress.”

In the light of the Tifty years that have passed since tlese sentences
were written, I find considerable verification of their estimate. The judiciel
construction or legislation by Congeess on the clause in the Consitution
authorizing the regulation of commerce with foreign nations or between the states
is an indication of the soundness of this early view. This power was origimally
exercised only in preventing the several states from putting a ban, or restriction,
on commerce between the states, But later, it became *he ~rcatest positive
force in regulating’or even prohibiting, many forms of foreign and interstate
commerce.

In comparatively recent years the Federal govermnment assumed ocontreol of
navigeble waters, even to the extent of becoming a proprietor. This has occurred
although the word 'navigation' or any of its synonyms 1s not to be found in the
EigttfdAd¥ Consitution, Likewise, the Federal gquarantine has been established

and greatly expanded so as to protect public health and to protect and promote
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the agricultural ihdustry. The word 'quarantine' is not to be found in the
Constitution, but the function, being an accepted power inherent in the sovereignty
of all progressive nations, comes as a matter of ouurse within the scope of the
Federal government.

The extension of public works to include irrigation, reclamation and water
power would have been frowned on Tifty years ago. Taxation has been used to
wipe out the currency of state banks and to control the sale of oleomargarine
in interstate commerce., Restrictive immigration laws have been expanded far
beyond the enumerated purposes of the Constitution as viewed by its mskers.
The constitutional provision regulating 'controversies between states' which
was originally conceived to relate to bouﬁdary disputes, or like disputes involving
the sovereignty of two or more States, has now been construfed to xmamxx cover
disputes over excessive water pollution and the eguitable distribution of water
for irrigation or reclamation purposes.

Although the first deeision on this group of questions wzs reached by a
Vote of five to four, subsequent decisions in which the same points have been
involved were unanimous. In one of the last of these cases, it was held that
no state could unreasonably pollute or poison the atmosphere, to the the detri-
ment of an adjoining state,

llany other examples might be cited, but those given, suffice to give

authoritative support to the author' early views,
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YALE LAW SCHOOL =

mE pacrecTIVE TARIFF I UETS p AL u.m;a,\
> :

In the fall of 1881 I entered the Yale Law School, intent upon giving
more serious attention to my studies than they had heretofore received. In
this I was fairly successful, though ?ha Long Island Sound, with its winter
duck shooting, proved a temptation to which I frequently yielded.

The Law School offered at that time a two years course, which was later
increased to three. In the classes, Junior and Senior, were an average of
forty members, The school had a well deserved reputation, due to its excellent
faculty and the condiiion that the small size of the classes made practicable s
the recitation system which had been given up in the larger schools. In most
of the latter type, the lecture system, with its opportunities for shirking
work, prevailed.

I shall pass over in these pages the routine work of the &lass room and
refer to matiers of @reater interest to those planning to follow the profession
of law, The Kent Club concerned itself principally with mock trials, the
argument of the legal principies in certain cases and debates on questions
of national interest. A presidential election was pending, with the prinecinle
issue as the protective tariff. During the first debate, I was surprised
to find thatiwo-thirds of the siudents were free traders. With theee excertioms,
the remainder were unfamiliar with the subject, so at the outset the free
traders had things pretty much their own way.

Their relative sirength in the Club had a simple explanaticn. 1In each
class were from eighteen to twenty stud nts vho had entered the Law School
after having been graduated frcm the academic department of Yalec whers tley
hed been subjeetcd +o *re influerce of William Summer, one of *&; leading
political econemists of the cou-try. It has been often said that practlcally
all the students who heard Professor Sumner's lzctures were, at graduction,
ardent free traders, whereas ‘en years loter m~st of them hed norented the

doctrine of the the proteetive t-riff,
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I happened to be one of the three students who had given some attention
to the subject and had come to believe in proteetion, As I came from the
great industrial city of Pittsburgh this was not surprising. Naturally enocugh
my free trade associates contended that tha selfish local interests of my home
town accounted for my views =nd for my willingness and desire to subject the
entire country to a policy that particularly benefitted the industrial centers,

Among my classmates was Daniel W. Lawler of St. Paul, accepted by the
students of the Law School and by the College at large as the most polished
and trenchant dsbater among the undergradustes. A sincere Democrat, he
accepted and advocated the principles of free trade, Mthen, however, he found
the threellone protectionists overwhelmed by the skillful and fervent attacks
of the Sumnerites, his sympathy went out to us. While he did not come out for
protectioq,his searching eriticism of the arguments of our opponents proved
of great help to us in wiﬁning recruits.

I realized from the beginning that to make progress we had effectively
to meet that charge that in Pittsburgh and other industrial cities favored by

the teriff only the favored few were its beneficlaries and that such advaniages

as the system had were more than offset by the burden it imnosed on the community

at large. The state of Connecticut, in which we were temporarily residing, and
the other New England states contzined many manufacturing establishments. The
wellfare of the communities in which they were located depended almost wholly
on~protective tariff barriers.

; To clinch my Point I finally offered an examnle of the depsndence of a
community upon the presence and proscerity of its manufacturing establishments.
The Willimentic Thread Mills had recently been built upon the banks of:;iver
of that neme, whence it had abundant water power thet permitted of low oper-
ating costs. Up to that time, the American market was supplied with thread
from Great Britain and Europe. The cost was so high that the home producer was
assured a good market if he could be secure against the likelihood that,

Shgeed—widi———"0
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faced with domestic competion, the foreign manufacturers would reduce their
prices 50 percent, and the further probability that, if this did not suffice to
destroy the new American industry, they would sell below cost to accomplish
their purpose.

The Willimentic mills were, in effect, the creation of the protective
teriff, Congress was memofalized on the subject, and assured that with protec-
tion for a home thread industry, capital for domestic mills could be secured
and the home market developed, with ultimately lower priceg for thread, The
argument was impressively urged, and following enaction of‘tha tariff, the
barren hillsides that were the site of the Willimentic mills became ‘the location
of a busy and prosperous community in which the nearby farmers found = profit-
able market for their products,

In order to bring home to my fellow students the benefits of the tariff,
direct and indirect, and also its benefits to the consuming publie, I arrenged
with en executive of the mills for a visit to Willimentic by all the students
of the alw school., We were assured of a cordial reception and promised a
lunch on the day designated.

The trip to Willimesntic was masde in & specisl train which waited to take
us back, Ue were shown thoroughly through the large factories filled with
hundreds of operatives, mostly young women from New England farms or merbers
of households within the recently constructed town. These employees had found
a ready and satisfactory income within buildings where sanitray surroundings
had been carefully provided.

A glence at this little settlement told the simple story of the direét
and colleteral benefits of the protective tariff, This was understood much
more easily than in the case of large industrisl centres. It was apparent
that this once barren hillside and unused water power had been brought into
occupation and use by a single item in the tariff law, Every business house

and every dwelling, every office building and every member of the varied
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The ranking of the first five in the class at the Law School was based
on the examination papers of the preceding year = and the honor students
were given cum laude degrees. I was entirely satisfied with being rated six
but was chided by one of my friends for too much devotion to duck hunting,
This, he said, was the reason I was not rated higher. I went duck hunting
every Saturday, which ﬁecessitated my missing the recitation in eriminel
law. As few of the students were interested in criminal law and as Saturday
was, naturally, not a popular day for class room work, the nrofessor who had
the course had to bse a little c%fereion to prevent the class romm from being
empty, Accordingly , he was the on¥y member of the faculty who took attendance
into consideration in determining his ratings. The result for me was not &
happy one. But I told my protesting friend that he should not overlook the
pleasure and exercise I had had on my hunting trips or how grateful some of
the men on the honor roll should be because I had cut the Saturday classes,

By something of a coincidence thftty-five years later, Theodore Roosevelt
and I received from Trinity Collagq,in the same state, the honorary degree
of Dr. Sci. in recognition of work as field naturalists and conservators of
wild life. Embossed on my parchment, in Latin terms, is approval of my long
advocacy of hunting wild life with camera and flashlight. I have often thought
since that while I perhaps lost a possible honor as a student by reason of my
devotion to the study of game the loss was more than compensated for by the
gain of a later degree in recognition of the persistence with which I had

pursued it.
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DECLINES PRESIDENCY CF THE EKENT CLUB

- - ——

It was the custom at the beginning of the senior year to elect a president
of the Kent Club, the office usually going to a member who had been active
in debate or in promoting the club's ihterest. Greatly to my sum prise, I
was unenimously nominated and elected to the office.

After expressing my appreciation of the honor, I, in my turn, gave the
members a surprise by respectfully declining to fill the office. I told them
that I preferred the freedom of the floor to the dignity of the presiding
officer's chair,

Neither did I have any liking for the printipal honor attached to the office,
namely presiding and introducing to the faculty and the undergraduate body of
the University, the half dozen distinguished jurists and statesmen who- delivered

each year these addresses. Formalities of this kind did not appeal %o me.
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Begins the Practice of Law ‘\;,1,»(?

In June, 1883, I took the examination for admission to the Allegheny

county bar. I had previously been admitted to practice in Connecticut,
by virtue of having been graduated from the Yale law school, but under the
rules of my home county a lawyer from outside the state either hed to have
practiced a certain number of yezsrs or pass the prescribed examination.

On learning that I hed passed, the courts not then being in session, I
left to spend the remainder of the summer on Lske Superior. In the fall I
entered my father's law office, where I was joined a year later by my brother.
In the office was Charles C. Dickey, who for many years had assisted my
father in routine work and who had also built up & considerable practice of
his own. I never met during the period of my legal career a man who had
a mere logical or clearer mind, or greater aptitude in the ready applicatizn
of the law. He was particularly well versed in the ccmmon law, for Black-
stone was the family bible of the Pennsylvania lawyer. Mo:.o«gr,‘(e was
tall, robust mentally and physieally, cheerful, and a favorite of the young
lawyers whom he assisted freely in their many problems arising in their
early practice.

On the retirement of my father to take a place on the Supreme Court of
the United States, the three of us formed the firm of Shiras & Dickey. I
continued as the senior member until my election to Congress.

Ly early experieﬂces at the bar differed but little from those of any
other young lawyer, except that, incontrast to those who begin their practice
alone, I had a marked advantage in being associated with a well established and

busy firm.
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A COMPARISON OF DIRECT AND CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

I shall never forget my first experience in a trial court case, not only
because it wzs my first effort, but alsovbecause of its interesting character.
On the oceasion in question, Mr. Dickey asked me to assist him in a contest
over a probated will in which his clients alleged that the document had been
forged, thereby illegally depriving them of their shere in their father's estate.
I felt @ertain that lir. Dickey had generously celled me into the case by way of
encouragement, And I deeply asnreciated the eprortunity and resnonsibility.

The testator of the alleged will devised a valuable farm for life to a wife
by a second marriege, providing that on her death the property was to go to her
children. According to these terms, -one of it would go tc the children of the
first wife. The will when filed in the orphans court was in English and
purported to have been signed by the testator. The sons of the first wife in
consulting with Mr, Dickey declared that their father was an zcged German who
could not write English, nor, they maintained, was the signature attached to the
will that of their father, The widow when probating the will swore that it
had been found in an old family bible and that it was in the handwriting of
her hushand, Under the Pennsylvania lew, two attesting witnesses were required,
but this had been construed to mean tha® in the sbsence of such witnesses to
the will, two others feamiliar with the signature of the testator could be called
on to attest to the same. This was done by twe friends of the family.

Before the case was called for trial, & number of experts on handwriting
were consulted and all agreed that the will could not have been written by an
aged German unadded by anyone, and moreover, that the handwriting evidently was
that of one under the age of sixteen, while the signature was not similar to those
on deeds and mortgeates admittedly signed by the testator., A few days before
the case was called in the Urphans Court, a jury trial was waived by agreement
of counsel, the presiding judge being authorized to hear the evidence and pass

upon the questions of fact and of law,
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lr., Dickey was of the opinion that the circumstantial evidence in the case
wes conclusive as to the forgery of the will, and he had no doubt that the court
would have no @ifficulty in reaching the same conclusion, I agreed with my
colleague, but said I thought it wes our duty to find out who had forged the will,
To this desire my associate offered nc objection, but he thought I would not get
very far in this investigation as the case was to be called the next day.

I sent immediately for one of our clients and told him I thought the will
had been forged by the younger daughter of the widow. In view of the expert's
assurance that it had been written by a young person, she seemed to be the one
most likely, K to have done so under her mother's instructions, To this view the
step brothers agreed., To determine this if possible I asked to be supplied with
any writings of the one suspected. Late that evening one of the contestants
called at my home, stating that he had been able to find only an emvelope
addressed to him by his stepsister, Limited as was this writing, it further
confirmed my suspicions, for in the name of the addresseé, Gustavus Dice, the
capital 'D' of the surname corresponded exactly with the misuse of the same
capital in the word 'Death', used in the will, Both 'D'8' were large, flourish=-
ing and identicsl in appearance, This, when followed up, confirmed my conclusicns
and practieally ended the case at this juncture.

On our way to the court house the next morning I told Mr, Dickey what I
suspected, but he protested against any attempt to drag this young woman into
the case saying that this imputation, if not established, would react and might
spoil a perfectly good case. I called his attention to the fact that we were
not trying the issue before a jury and that the court would not resent eny honest
effort on our part to prove who had forged the will, Therefore, I asked M r,
Dickey that when the case was called he permit me to make the opening argument
and if I failed in my effort to show who the forger was, he could follow it up
in the way he had originally planned,

On addressing the court, I said that the plaintiff's counsel would make

no opening argument as the papers before the court indicated the issue, and
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.accordingly we would call our first witness. Thereupon, I summoned to the stand
the young woman suspected as the puilty one while my colleague looked on with
misgivings. Hed®ing the witness a lead pencil and a tablet, I asked her to write
what I would dictate, Then, I read the will slowly without showing it fo her.
When she had finished writing I looked at the paper, and to the surprise of the
counsel on either side I handed to the court this paper with the request that it
it be marked 'Exhibit A' and that this would complete the plaintiff's case.

The court after reading the exhibit, asked to be furnished with the contested
will, After making a careful comparison of the two papers, during which he smiled
broedly, the gudge handed the same to the defendant's counsel, saying that with
the case clésed for the pleintiff, he should proceed with the defense,

Thereupon, the defendant's counsel, an active practitioner for more than
25 years, examined the exhibit. It was evident to him that the will and copy
were duplicates in spelling, punctuation and the formation of the letters. As
the witness had not seen the originsl will for a year and wrote it down at my
dietation without again seeing the same, it was evident tc the most casual
observer that the forger of the will had just occupied the witness chair., The
defendant's counsel told the court that their side would offer no evidence in
rebuttal but would leave the case in the court's hands for finel determinetion,

At this, the judge said that he was convinced that the will and
hed been forged and would file his opinion to that effect. That night the young
daughter, fearing prosecution for perjury or forgery, eloped with the hired
farmhand, fleeing to an adjoining state. Ier stepbrothers, however, would
not have prosecuted her knowing that she was but the youthful dupe of an avaricous
mother. Here was a case vividly showing the difference that sometimes exists
in the character and value of direct and circumstantial evidence.

Twenty years later, I chanced to meet Judge Over who had presidsd at this
trial, snd ke sizd "I have never forgotten your first case that happened to be

tried before me and in which you not only conclusively proved that an alleged
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"j PIG IRON STATE AN '

A PI@N STATESMEN"
A Brotest against the Election of LS. Quay as
United States Cenator in 1887,

As the term of Senator Mitchell approached the close and not being a
candidate to succeed himself, candidates eppeared from various parts of the state.
Because the Democrats hed elected their gubernatorial candidate i@ tThis Gibraltar
of Republicanism and because our respresentation in the Senate was weak or unfit,
many Republicans hoped that the next senator would be & man of high character,
proved ability, and wide experience. However, they were doomed ﬁo disappoi:tnenv.
for without much effort, Matthew Stanley Quay, then £ State Treasurer and a
reliable li;utenant in the Cameron dynasty, was chosen the party nominee at
the Republican ecaucus.

This selection ceused protest throughout the state and elsewhere. On the
morning of the day that the Legislature assembled in joint session to elect a
United States Senator, a pamphlet was laid on the desk of each member. It
bitterly assailed the reputation and statesmanship of the one about to be
elected by the ballot of the merbers,

Upon the reading of the pamphlet, rmuch confusion arcse. One member declared
that he knew by its style that the attack had been written by a correspondent
of a New York peper. Others made random guesses as to its source or object.

I was the author of the pamphlet in question, and Jt was written with no idea
that it would affect the election but as a protest egainst a candidate whom I
thought unfit for the position.

The references in this attack to Quay's speculation in Well Street in
company with other state officials end the use of funds from the state treasury
to replace heavy losses in the stock market had previously been verified from
authoritative sources. Although the state lost nothing by reason of repayment
to the treasury by wealthy associates of the retiring treasurer, the charges
were too serious to werrant their suppression., The text of the pamphlet was as

follows:
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TO THE REPUBLICAN MEMBERS OF THE
PENNSYLVANIA LEGISLATURE :

(GENTLEMEN :

It is generally conceded that in the past decade
our State has borne a most shabby figure in the halls of
Congress, and were it not for a few worthy members of
the lower house our vacuity would be the by-word of the
political world.

The immense Republican majorities, largely from the
ring smitten cities of Philadelphia and Pittsburgh, have
brought about a sort of fatty degeneration. While three-
fourths of the intelligent, well to do, and patriotic people
of our Commonwealth are—of necessity—in the Republi-
can party, yet this unswerving fealty to the party of Pro-
tection and Progress has, in the end, produced a set of
the most persistent barnacles that ever fastened them-
selves upon a state, old or young, North or South. New
York City alone can discount us in the mendacity of the
reigning cliques, and there the causeis the same—an un-
wieldly partisan majority. Thus we are, as a party,
doomed to suffer almost continually from a surfeit of
political gluttony—except when, on rare occasions, we
are thrown off our feet by an attack of bourbonism or
mugwumpism. ' ;

The magnificent tidal wave for Blaine and the per-
suasive tenets of the Republican party has brought along
the usual drift-wood. The crookedest stick of all lies

Memoirs_Box1_Folder12_30.tif



4

and thirsts for an opportunity to imbibe from our chief
fountain of constitutional and forensic learning

Let him rest in the shade of the Tall Sycamore of the
Wabash and the other giants of our sister states.

Let him purr about the legs of Evarts, Edmunds,
Morrill, Hoar, Dawes, Hale, Sherman, Frye, Ingalls,
Harrison, Hawley, Blair, Allison, and the other clean
handed, intellectual Republicans of the Senate.

Let him be registered in the patent office as the most
perfect machine made biped since the days of the great
Prometheus.

Label him the “Pennsylvania idea” and have his pic-
ture engraved on the back of an anti-Blaine 306 Medal.
Then when the great tariff fight opens with the next
presidential campaign, his Napoleonic Highness can
adorn the party medallions-jost—as—hydia—PimcHTm

—brings-bright and hi }

Get your Democratic friends to make his election
unanimous, concealing from them the fate in store for
the brethern of the Solid South. He'll turn Vest inside
out, bark the shins of the Tall Sycamore, and drive Beck
to his native heath—to subsist on oat meal and free trade,
Gorham might prove a Nemesis. He's kind of Napoleonic
too; especially in rouge et noire and roulette.

After he is vociferously elected, what a procession
there will be to Washington to hear him orate the issues
of the day, with what long suppressed pride will we
glory in his eloquent and masterly addresses, No longer
shall our state industries be coolly reviled as the brazen
offspring of governmental infidelity—our manufacturers
and mechanics—highwaymen under the forms of law.
Henceforth, a Horatius stands betwixt us and the bitter
slurs of an unchallenged enemy.

With the issue fairly joined between a high and
adequate tariff and a tariff for revenue only, whom have
we had in the immediate past to uphold what the Free
Traders satirically call *‘the Pennsylvania idea *" Prin-

SR
torounr-dany-pap

5

cipally the congressional delegations from the puny states
of Maine and Vermont—such as Blaine, Hale, Frye, Reed,
Boutelle, Edmunds and Morrill. Giants from pocket-
boroughs—dwarfs from empire states

Unable to decently man our own fortifications, year
after year goes by with each succeeding campaign finding
us under the leadership of imported speakers. When the
ery goes up for help from other states, we can only
furnish the telling figures of our industrial activity. The
great mills—the prosperous merchant—the contented
laborer—may be fine protectionist a ition, but we
have mighty few men in public life of the right calibre to
use it.

Make a candid retrospect of your candidates long

* career—one almost uninterrupted meal at the public crib

—iand what is there from beginning to end that would
indicate him other than a man of second-class attain-
ments with a third-class character ¥

Sometimes men, whose qualifications we may be at a
loss to determine, by reason of a life of retirement or an ab-
sorption in private business, have, when called upon to
assume positions of public trust, proven to be persons of
rare judgment and in every way suitable representatives of
the people and the party. In the caseof Napoleon, Jr., we
can look for no hidden resources—no undiscovered veins
of intellectual or moral worth. He is simply an oil
besmeared politician, whose peculiar methods entitle him
to no further consideration at the hands of a party
already badly strained and broken, by his continual col-

lusions with boodle and office. T
trooti L-his-vearly-political chicanery, glory

in him as the worst representative ever sent forth to
assist and give tone our national party.

So the echoes of a disgraceful past have ceased to
vibrate in our whited sepulcher. And yet but a few short
years ago every class of citizens—every reputable jour-
nal—united in one indignant protest against the infamous
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aet of our state pardon board. One man was held partic-
ularly responsible for this humiliating spectacle—and he
is your choice for political preferment. Is it possible
that the dust of a half dozen yedrs can cover the pages of
this man’s life and shut out from public scrutiny, deeds
which, at the time, consigned him to social and polit-
ical retirement *

His election as State Treasurer has been construed by
certain characters as conferring on him the supreme right
of drawing at sight on any office hitherto unoccupied by
himself. It is not going to far to say that the Prince of
Darkness would have received, substantially, the same
majority on that occasion. The reason is plain. With
the national and state government in Democratic hands,
the first time in a quarter of a century, naturally this—
the strongest Republican state in the Union—voted for
the party and not for the man. The position of State
Treasurer was so utterly insignificant and the duties so
purely ministerial, that all idea of personal fitness became
subordinate to the very praiseworthy desire of downing
the bitter enemy of our state's interests, even though, in
fidelity to the party, we siezed the jaw bone of an ass
with which to scatter the intruding foe. Any Republican
could have been elected—any Democrat defeated. Hence
all arguments of popularity predicted upon any such
grounds, are wholly without merit.

The idea of this exalted office seeking such an anim-
ated poker chip as a fit representative for the Keystone
state, makes us wonder whether the political arch is
built of cards. Turn your back to the people—shut your
eyes and—

Vote for him because he is mentally and morally the
inferior of any move-we-adjourn nondeseript sent out by
us in a quarter of a century.

Vote for him because he is utterly unknown to fame,
beyond the boundaries of his own state and known only
for his infamy within it,

T
Vote for him because his legal attainments would
hardly bring in more than enough to cover his office rent

a4k et *

oL Ul

Vote for him because his candidacy has not received
a single noteworthy expression of approval, either indiv-
idual or collective, on the part of the non-office holding
Republicans.

Vote for him because ninety per cent. of our party
view his possible election with more than ordinary con-
tempt—a contempt no pardon board can ever free him
from.

Vote for him because a former legislature cowardly
refused to impeach him for malfeasance in office.

Vote for him because it requires seventy-five major-
ity in the legislature to give him a fighting chahce of
having his nomination ratified by an election—while a bare
majority of one suffices for the election of a Sherman,
a Logan or a Harrison.

Vote for him because he lied his way into the front
door of the Treasury, that he might conveniently steal
out the back door with a chair that he never was elected
to oceupy.

Vote for him because he is on the ‘- combine” and
trades one office the instant he can skulk into the shadows
of a higher one—dirtying one nest as he flops into another.

Vote for him because he is too big for a seat in the
lower (‘) house, but must needs be converted, at one fell
SWoop, Ereprart lian into a hermetically sealed
statesman, (warransed to keep in good condition six years
—if unopened.)

Vote for him because you anathematized Cameronism
that you might crown the power behind the throne.

Vote for him because he is a self-made senator if not
a self-made man.

Vote for him because you admire the Sphinx-like
breed of Senators for which we are becoming famous.

Memoirs_Box1_Folder12_32.tif



And last of all— :

Vote for him because he has captured some of you
by specious lies—some by highly prospective offices—
some by past favors redeemable at call—some by natural
affinity, and the rest of you because of the apparent
hopelessness of fighting such carefully prepared schemes.

For two years this has been his sole objective point.
Personal claquers were elected to the legislature, needy
candidates supplied with sinews of war and dozens false-
ly impressed with the idea that he and not the people
elected them.

The most cursory test of public opinion shows you
the utter contempt held for this man and his unsavory
record. Therefore you must belong to one of the classes
above'¢énumerated Which oneisit? If to the hopeless
class, then as you have an honest regard for our National
party—a party—brilliant—trustworthy—loyal and pro-
gressive beyond all record in contemporaneous times—
vote to give us such a representative as will quickly re-
ceive the honest eulogy—not merely of your immediate
constituents—but of our entire party, of which he at once
becomes the National spokesman. Will you even {ry to
attain such an end or are you still willing to continue
facing the ever increasing enemy with spiked guns ?

Go ask Gov. Hoyt, Gov. Hartrauft, General Beaver,
or Senator Cameron for a full and confidential disclosure
of this man’s antecedents and your vote will show con-
clusions worthy to yourself—if not to the candidate.

Our state has a population of five millions Has your
choice received the honest commendation of a paltry five
hundred—including office-holders, politicians and party
retainers ?

No man, even a town constable, was ever accorded a
colder or more disdainful reception after obtaining the
caucus nomination of his party. Our disgrace would be
complete —had we not long ago reached the limit of self-
degradation.
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These charges were so serious theg, publiéhed annonymously, they naturally
created deep resentment among Senator Guay's friends. "At the same time , while
the publie was interested in the charges directed against the State Treasurer's
honesty, it was eirculated sbout in certain circles that the feeling of the publie
was that an unfair attack had been made upon the incoming senator. DMNMany felt
that whetever might be his shortcomings, he should not have been made the victim
of an annonymous attack,

I had had in mind from the inception of my plen to lay before the publie in
definite language these serious charges on the very day he was to be inducted
into his high office, this very situation. I had just as much dislike for
annogymous attacks as the most meticulous observer of propriety, and the obser-
vance of the rule of conduct was to be met by my methods of procedure. I
assumed, and rightly, that on the circulation of this pamphlet on the floor of
the Legislature and its reprodﬁction throughout the press of the country, there
would come & challenge from the friends of Senator Juay that the one who had
been responsible for this devastating attack on the character of the Senator
should make his name known or go down in history as a maligner of the most
despicable character.

These anticipated conclusions ferified my judgement and made possible the
putting into effect of a plan that would settle for all time the question of the
guilt and innocence of the Senator and, thereby, perform a great public service
to the state and the nation., If my plans didn't miscerry, Senator Quay would
either be vindicated or the resulting disclosures would result in conviction
and a consequent retirement from the Senate.

To bring this about, I wrote a letter to state senator Ruten from Beaver,
Sencstor'quay's home country, as follows:

"Deer Senator:
Since the publication of the little pamphlet circulated in the Legislature
attacking Senator Juay on the day he wes elected to the United States Senate,

I have noticed a vehement protest on your pert ageinst those responsible for
the circulation of this attack, charging that the falsity of this vicious
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attack was apparent to the Senator's friends and the publie at large because
it was annonymity, the method of all vilifiers who did not dare meke known
their true identities.

"As the writer of this pamphlet, I heartily sgree with your condemnation,
even though it ignores the possible truth of the charges, because in the minds
of all fair-minded men, annonymous charges usually carry their own condemnation,.
In order to meet such a situation, I meske the following proposition: Thet
uzon the disclosure of my neme, Senator Juay will agree to bring a libel
suit against me for a substantial amount, subject to the following conditions;
to wit, that in the triel of this case, he mey be called for cross-examination
as an adverse witness and that my counsels have the right to subject the
plaintiff to such a cross-examination as is allowable when calling on
adverse witnesses.

In order to esbablish the good faith of this proposition, I shall arrange
to deposit the sum of £10,000 or othersum that may be egreed upcn in order
to ensure his expenses and attorney fees. The balance, if any, should go to
such a local charity as Senator Quay may suggest; for I assume that in case
of this trial what he would seeks would bec bis vindication and not any
monetary award in eddition to this. Therefore, I wish, if this proposition
is accepted, that you cause to be published in the publie press the “ollowing
statement:

'I% will be of interest to evervone to !mow that -teps are being tzken to
bring about the disclosure of the authorship of the pemphle® recently
attacking Senator Quay on the date of his induetion as Senstor,!

3 +From such a statement I will understand that Cenator Quay aécepts the
terms under which this disclosure is mede. On the publication of *he swegested
statement cr of one of similar import, you will receive a call from my

counsel. while not disclosing the ncme of “1s client during this first conver-
saticn, my counsel will let it be kncwn when I am satisfied that a binding
azreement has been entered into by Senator Quay to accept my challenge in

the manner suggested," -

For some days after Laving written this letter and hevfing definitely learned
that it had been examined, I searched the newspapers regularly. But I found no
response in the papers on this subjeet. Consequently, from that day down to
the present, no one except myself end an intimate friend of mine who mailed the
circulars to Harrisburg knows the inside history of this affair. Nor will anyone
ever know the true facts unless someday there is published in my biography a

history of this affair,
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’ (original)
: / BECOMES A CANDIDATE FOR THE LEGISLATURE

'{l‘i,tha spring of 1888, after practicing law for about four years, I came
to the conclusion, after careful consideration, that it would prove an agreeable
end instructive experience to serve as a member of the L ggislature for a term,
I felt that a period of service in the House, where I might become familiar
with law meking and the activities of the Depertment would, provided that I
went there with the intention of doing serious work and meking the most of my
brief opportunity, be of great subsequent benefit in the practice of law. =t
would meen building up en acquaintance, both legal and political, throughout
the state., I also believed that the cormittee work and the opportunity of
following ami participating in the discussions ol the floor would familiarize
me with the State Constitution and the public vroblems of the hour., What I had
in mind was, therefore, in harmony with my purpose to céntinue the practice of
the lew without intermission. I had no intention of again seeking public officé
or of following any other course that would divert me I‘ro."Achgsen profession,
The perty primaries were to be held a couple of months after I had decided
o become & candidate. I lived in the first of the two legislative districts in
the city of Allegheny, now the northside of Pittsburgh., All the wards, with
one exception, lay east of Federal street and were controlled by voters of German
extraction, zmong whom I had but slight acquaintance.

Prepsrihg to make a start, I consulted with my uncle, Major W.HM. Kennedy,

a resident of one of the most populous werds in the district, who had been a factor

in loecal politics for a long time. As other candidates had covgred the field
pretty thoroughly, he was of the opinion that I had waited too long and that I
would, by reason of the lekd start, be badly handicapped. Before I took any
definite skep, he advised me to call on Pete Walters, & leading and influential

German. Pete Walters was the proprieter of a drug store on a street dividing
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the 4o largest wards and had been for many yegws an adviser to those having
politiesl ambitions.

Waelters shared Major Kennedy's view that I was too late in announcing my
candidacy, particularly as two candidates, Rdbison and Staving, had combined on
delegaiaa and had already done so much work among the voters that they felt
confident of nomination, The kindly old druggist, however, apparently not wishing
to discourage me any further, told me he wes committed to only one of these
candidates. Furthermore, he stated, tha%?é would make a copibination with the
men to whom he hed promised support, I could, in his opinions, win the contect,

Replying to his outline of the situation, T ==id I thought too many
cempaigns weil'e boom too scon and that effective werk, after = late entry, wonld
more than cffset any possible advantage resulting frem =n early start. I also
voiced chjection to any effort to bresk up the Hobisonnstg7iné combination, saying
vhat if there were fo be any overtures to this end, they might, in my opinion,
better come to instead of from me.

I urged these views on my advisers with success, 4and they ncreed to help
set up & complete slate of delegates, leaving the choice of the sceond csndidate
tc be nominated to later coneideration., The events justified the view 1 urged
on them, for I received, after my delegates were announced, an offer from each
of the two candidates to join him as his running mate.

But this only raised another serious problem. The Germens in ﬁhe distriet,
comprising a large majority of the voters, had for years been indignant over
the terms of the existing license law which had imposed hiqhgr license fees and
reduced the number of licenses that could be granted. Ax in the previous
bkennial election, the Democrats, with two Cermen candidates, had swept the
district, I was strongly advised to throw in my lot with Staving, a county office
holder and influential among his fellow Germans; but I preferred Robison.

He was well educated, a good cempaigner, and a genial fellow. The likelihood

that he would meke a betier legislator than Staving mecuh éppealed to me. I had
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1onJo‘osarved that the legisletors from the large cities like Pittsburgh and
Philadelphia were infinitely inferior in mind and character to those representing
the rural districts. There was the additional consideration that they were
largely controlled by the city or state rings, It seemed my duty to team up
with Robison regardless of the oonsequences, and this I did. Fortunately for us
and the success of the party in the distriet, the situation wes simplified before
the primaries by Staving's withdrawal, Thus, Robison and I went into the eldetion
with a fairly united organizatiocn behind us.

As the Democrats had again nominated two Germens, it was predicted on all
sides that we would have a hard fight, with the chances of success none too good.
But I belie{ed that the faect that it was a presidential year, with Harrison
and Morton the Republican nominees, would count strongly in our favor. The voters
were nominally Republicans and in a nastional election would not be likely to
cut their local candidates.

The cenvass was YL¥gorously underteken by myself and colleague#. Deily,
we made political addressesin the various wards, while about once a week, there
was an old-Cashioned torchlight procession composed of our local supporters.

The procession cerried plenty ‘of red fire, and the astute Major Rush Tyler,
a veteran of the Civil War and a most capable cempaigner, was in commend,

During the contest, the Pittsburgh ring locked askance at our candidacy;
for it was the custom to control the entire county delegation. However, as
it was known that I was also arfi-. usy, the arch enemy of the local bosses,
we vere permitted to go shead without interference.

The forebodings of those fearful of defeat proved groundless., 'le were
elected by 1,800 majority, almost an exact reversal of the Uemocratic majority

two years before.
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A POLITICAL STORY

A few days after my election to the Legislature, the Round Table and some
additional friends gave a dinner in my honor. The toastmaster of the ocecasion
was a college roommate and felt vrivileged to say anything he wished about my
political endeavors, IHe told how a few days before he had met Mr, Le—— one of
the defeated Democratéc candidates and asked him how it was that he had been so
badly @orsted when only two years before he had been so successful.

"That is easy to explain", said the disgruntled candidate, "for when
Shiras and hié friends went into the German wards, it was pointed out thet his
great grandéather in 1800 had built the first brewery in Allegheny County.
Thereupon, the Germans flocked to his support.

"Then the same campaigners went into the Presbyterian wards at the other
end of the district and told how another great grandfather of the candidate)
in lelq’founded the First Presbyterian Church, serving as its pastor for 50
consecutive years. This turned the religious element against the beer-loving
German candidates.”

e concluded by seying sadly, "Not letting your rikht hend know what your
left hand did made it possible tc carry a beer bottle one day ard a Bible the
next, You can't beat such a combinatioﬁ.

This story created much merriment at the table, but the victim declared
that the tale resulted from an cverstretch of the imsginaetion on the part of

the defeated candidate,
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iE LEGISLATURE AS A POLITICAL TRAINING SCHOCL AND ITS PERSONNEL

In government each State is a miniature of the United States., For each is
defined in its territory, is a sovereign in domestic matiers, and otherwise
resembles the nation of which it is a component part., The states have a chief
executive with cabinet officers or other State officials corresponding thereto,
It has a supreme court and subordinate judiciary, a legislature composed of
a house and senate, and a territory divided into counties that bear the same
relation tc the commonwealth that the states bear to the national government.
Each State sends its allotted members to the national legislature, while the
general govefnment allots to esch State, members of the Federal judiciary and
other officials connected with the executive department, such as district attorneys,
marshals, revenue collectors, postmasters, ete, Thus, we have forty-eight states
complete in their governmental functions and a nation equally complete in its
functionﬂi.

Before going to the state capitol in 1889, I was thopoughly impressed with
the feeling that the average state legislature was an assembly of politicians
or men of mediocre ability anmd that, collectively, they represented a rather
low stratum in publie life with the result of misgovernment or extravagance in
the management of state affairs., These views were unduly influenced by the
general character of the members aoming from the two large cities at either end
of the state and by the tendency of the daily vress tc megnify all that was
reprehensible in the legislature and to largely ignore the every day work of
this body and the faithful discharge of the many dut}es imposed uponf those
active in committee work or in the orderly management of the affairs of a great
state.

While I had some uncomfortable or disconcerting experiences as evidenced by
the bank bills, the grade-crossing bill, and the attempted impeachment of a county

judge, I was able to see in a very short time that the calibre of the members
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was of%e high order, Aside from political automatons from the larger cities who
created a‘vacuum rather than a foree for evil, the members from the small towns and
country districts were honest, able, and geﬁh@relly congenial, This group was
made up of lawyers, former judges, bankers, merchants, physicians, and educated
farmers, While such men as ﬁhese, constituting a mejority of the body, were
susceptible to the cunning manoevérs of the stete bosses or the insidious presure
of powerful cBrporations, I found that whenever an issue affecting the publie
welfare was properly called to their attention, these men would promptly break
away from unwise leade®ship or would defy political coercion.

As the legislature of Pennsylvania had long been depicted as an unscrupuléus
and an inefficiant branch of the govermment, I.have little doubt that the leg-
islatures of other states have been equally meligned. UNearly half of our United
States Senatore, Bongressmen, and many Federal Judges, governors and similar
high officials have served in the state legislatures. The training end the
prestige which mhiiwmdx they obtained there largely acccunts for their subseguent
successful careers. A number of Presidents have seen service in the legislatures,
Garfield and Thecdore Roosevelt among others, In later years, *lcir carsers
were much influenced by their early entry into public life, IEx-Governor Alfred
E. Smikh, Democratic candidate for Presidert in 1928, acquired much of his

political fame as = lezislator in his home stz*s,
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Some Bank Legisletion V

&

Before the session opened I had been entrusted with the presentment
of two bills prepared by former Chief Justice Agnew and desired by the
Bank of Pittsburgh, one of the most famous state institutions throughout
the country, it having been organized in 1810, The purpose of one
measure was to permit the renewal of state bank charters, the former
statute thereon having explred under a time limitation,.and the other
permitted a state bank to become a national bank without cessation of
business and liquidation. Without the passage of the first bill the
Bank of Pittsburgh could not continue and should the second bill become
2 law this bank could take advantage of it later on, if it seemed
desirable. On my introduction of these measures they were referred
by the speaker to the Committee on Banks of which I was vice-chalrman,
After I had explained to the committee the purposes of this legislation
the two bills were reported out affirmatively, and went on the
cal¥fendar. On the first end second reading of the bills no objection
was made to them and it seemed they would pass on third and final reading
without any trouble,

Before final passage however I received a telegram from Marquette
Michigan my summer home announcing the arrival of a son and I left that
evening for the West., The two bank bills on third reading were called
up during my absence when objections were made by a Philadelphia member.
This critic had not proceeded very far when he was interrupted by
John Fow the minority leader of the House who in stentorian tones

which had previously led to his being named "Foghorn" protested against
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any attack on these measures during the absence of their author who

had been called away to greet the arrival of George the 4th. In
conclusion he expressed .he hope that not a single vote would be cast
ageinst this legislation in view of the circumstences. Thereupon

the objector sat down and with the rest of the House recorded a unanimous
vote for the passage of the measures. Hearing about thls later, I

felt that my absence had been more eloquent than my presence.
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A Deadlock On The Bank Bills.

A few days after the two bank bills were sent to the Senate, and
referred to the appropriate committee, Senator Newmyer of Allegheny
County called on me in the House. He then asked me what had become
of his bank bill providing for the punishment of bank officials who
raceived deposits after the bank was known to be insolvent? I told
him that this senate bill had been referred to the Committee on Banks
a£ the time I wes acting chairmen and that in the opinion of the
committee the bill was a dengerous one as it did not accurately define
what constituted insolvency, and moreover it was unconstitutional in whole
or in pert because it atiempted to regulate national as well as state
banks. As the senator had not asked for a hearing before the committee,
aﬁd in view of our united belief that such legislation should not
réceive a favorable report, I reported it out with a negative recommen-
dation. "well," remarked the senator gruffly,"I will tell you what is
going to happen tomorrow moraing." "Vhat is that?" I asked serenely.
"4t the morning session” he said "You will rise in your place and ask
the speaker to refer this bill back to the Committee on Banks for
further consideration". Ruffled by this assertion I made it plain that
I would do nothing of the kind. "Oh, yes you will end I have the means
of forcing this action." "You Have", he continued two bank bills before
the senate committee of which I am a member and there they will remain
until you have my bill referred back to your comnittee and later
reported out favorably." MNuch surprised by this threat and its
unfortunate consequences if carried out, I adopted a conciliatory tone
and pointed out that the life of one of the oldest banks in the state

would be ended end otherswould be in the same fix a year or two
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later, This plea, however, had no effect and he again repeated the
program that I must follow. Here arose a crucial test of what should
be done. I might‘jkrcibly call the attention of the House to the
effort of a well-lnown Penator to force through unwise legislation or
otherwise sacrifice two meritorious measures)thus affording an
unusual opportunity for an address on the culpability of such a bargat@
or I might silently acquiese in order that justice might be done to the
banks involved. This latter, course I followed although it was most
irritating.
Some Extraordinary Consequences,

Some months after my two bills, and that of Senator Newmyer
had been enacted, an indictment was found against Senator Macfarland
of Philadelphia, & roommate of Senator Newgyer and the head of a
defunct bank that had received deposits after becoming insolvent. The
accused Sbnator fled to Canada where he remained until all danger had
pessed. Following this came the arrest of Senator George W. Delamater,
a consplcuous party leader in the state end likewlise a close friend of
Newmyer. Senator Delamater was then being groomed for the gubernatorial
nomination the following year and through the sctivity of his friends
the eaccused Senator was acquitted on a technicality. His later nomina-
tion as governor resulted in his disastrous defeat which was wholly
charged against his scandalous escape from the tolls of the Newmyer
Act so that for the first time in a quarter of a century there was
a Democratic Governor.

Meeting Senator Newmyer on the street one day, in our home town,
I told him that I owed him an apology for opposing his bank bill, since

it had proved a much better measure than I thought it would. He gave
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an indignant snort and passed on. As a final sequel to this

legislation it may be stated that the supreme court of Illinois declared
a similsr bill unconstitutional in part because it attempted to

regulate n=tional banks,
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SERVICE IN THE PENNSYLVANIA LEGISLATURE

’ : THE LEGISLATURE CONVENES :
5

A few days before leaving for Harrisburg, I received a polife note from the
general passenger agent of the Pennsylvania reilroad stating that his company
took pleasure in issuing an annual pass for my use and asking that I call and
receipt for it.

I was aware of the powerful influence that this road had exerted on the
Legislature and of the success it had met with in getting what it wanted and in
defeating any legislation inimical to its interests. For this and other reasons,
I decided not to accept the pass, On the day of my departure, I received a
registered letter. When I opened it, I learned that I had unwittingly recq?:tad
for a Pennsylvania pass. When I showed it to my father, he tock a pencil
and ran a line through the prefix "Hon!', saying that if I were going to use it,
the adjective was inconsistent with my attitude toward my public duties. I
returned the pass and, as will be related later, soon had occasion to be glad
that I had done so.

On reaching the capital, I took a room for the session at the Lochiel House,
a famous old hostedry patronized by the more active members of the Legislature and
state officials. Consequently, it was the headquarters for important politicel
conferences. I was aaked.by the Speaker of the House, Henry K. Boyer, to
oceupy a chair at his table, where in addition to Harry Huhmn, the parliamentary
clerk, there ware several prominent members. Daily contact with this group
-enbaled me to obain information as to my future duties)which I could have
obtained in no other manner.

The Speaker was a man of unusual attainments. He was tall, well built, and
dig:nified) with a personality that xmx won the friendship and confidence of all
the members, regardless of party lines. As a parliamenterian, he had few equals,
partly the result of having presided over previous sessions.

After his instellation in the house of which I was a member, he asked the

members to indicate their preferences for committee assignments. I had realized
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from the outset the importance of getting on committees that would have congenial

' work to do and that had some importance. As I was free from entangling alliances
and had nof ambitions to continue in public office, I was interested only in the
ppportunity to do some worthwhile work. My first choice was the judiciary general
committee, composed almost entirely of lawyers, including the majority leader.

To this committee bills of importance that possibly required amendment and measures
of doubtful constitutionality were referred. AXthough I was a new member, I was
appointed to it, an honor due in large part to the faect that no one else from

the big delegation from Allegheny county had asked for a place on it.

I then asked the Speaker to place me on the committee on banks. He smiled
broadly at my request, saying that this committee rarely met and that in some
sessions it failed to assemble for even a single meeting. That would not be the
case in this session, I assured him, as I had two important banking measures
which I propesed to introduce; these would naturally be referred to the committee
on banks, Accordingly, he appointed me the ranking member with the power to call
the committee together in the absencB of the chairman. Two minor committees,
Geological Survey and Federal Relations, the latter of which I was made chairman,

completed my assignments,
FRIENDLY TREATMENT BY THE LEADERS

The friendly attitude of the Speaker and his close associates could be
accounted for partly by the fact that I and my colleagues became candidates
for the Legislature without the consent or endorsement of Magee and Flynn who
had long been the bosses of Allegheny County. This was the only section of the
state not under the political control of Senator Quay. The feud between these
two groups had existed for years, but Senator Quay with all his influence and
presitge was unable to oust this powerful local machine. It was quite natural,
therefore, that in Harrisburg where Quay was supreme in all legislative matters,
I might properly be regarded as pro Quay or at least friendly to the Quay
organization.

It was not then known that I was the author of the annonymous peamphlet
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"The Pig Iron State and Pigmy Statesmen” in which Senator Quay was directly charged
with speculating and losing a large sum in the State Treasury over which he
presided, Had this fact become known, I would have been on the black list,

and the courtesy shown me mentioned before, would have been emphatically denied

me,

GETS A SURPRISE

A few days after the convening of the Legislature, I was seated at my
desk writing a letter., Suddenly I became aware of an unusual silence in the
Chamber broken by a member opposite me calling my name while another member in
the rear pounded on my back. Looking up I saw the Speaker standing erect with
his gavel poised in the air and looking intently in my direection. Then the pre-
siding officer rmmmxixw repeated what he had evidently said before: "The
gentleman for Allegheny will please take the chair.”

This request ceme as a shock, for although not subject to stage fright, I
had no liking for the formal duties of a presiding officer, as previocusly indicated
when I declined the presidency of the Yale Kent Club. Pulling myself together,
I walked down the aisle which seemed inteminab]j long and mounted the steps
leading to the Speaker's chair. With a dignified bow, he handed me the gavel,
and I made an awkward curtsy in return.

Gazing out over the sea of faces where many were wondering who in thunder
had taken the chair, I shouted, "The House will please come to order,™ though
you could hear a pin drop so orderly was the body at that moment. JMoking to one
side of the chair where the parliamentary clerk was usually concealed and in a
position to prompt the Speaker on matters involving the rules or practices of the
House, I found this useful person absent. A moment later, I was attracted by a
member rising and asking for recognition. Not knowing either his neme or the
co\mfy he represented, I told him to prodeed, whereupon he read the title of a

bill he was then introducing, snd the measure was taken to the Chair by a pagee
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At that moment I heard a slight nolse to my right and there saw the smiling
countenance of Harry Huhn, the Speaker’s clerk and one of my daily companions
at the dinner table.

I whispered to him, "What in the world am I to do with this confounded paner?"
He whispered back that I should read the title of the bill aloud and refer it -
to its appropriate committee, which in this instance, I had no trouble in determin-
ing., Thereafter, all went smoothly. WNevertheless, I was greatly pleased to see
the Speaker approaching. As he took his place, he whispered, "You might have

done worse, for we were giving you the third degree.”
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A PROPOSED ILLEGAL ACT AND ITS FINAL
ENACTMENT IN THAT FORM

Illustrating some of the devious methods in legislation, I have another
example in mind, much more flagrant in its deceptive form thah the grade crossing
bill, Early in the session, Mr, Emmanuel Wertheimer, a wealthy distiller,
residing in my distriet, called upon me and asked whether I would introduce a
bill permitting the incorporation of distilleries, saying that in this mission
he represented these interests throughout the state. Although brewing companies
could be incorporated, he pointed out that distilling companies with a much larger
capital were not 'parmittsﬁ to have this advantage. In case of death, insolvency
or withdrawal of a member of a firm, he showed that reorgdnization was necessary
while the issuing of securities and the incurring of contractual obligations
were greatly impaired.

I told him I could see no good reason why distilling companies should not
hage the privilege of incorporating, particularly as the brewing interests
enjoyed it. I asked that I be whown a copy of the proposed bill amending the
general corporation act. I found on examing it that the title was vitally defective
in that it did not whow the nature of the amendment, while the body of the bill
contained only the proposed amended section. This departed from the usual
practice of setting forth the section as unamended followed by the new section
containing the changes in italicized form, so that the members would know just
what changes were proposed. I informed Mr..Wertheimer that I would not sponsor
the bill unless it conformed to the constitutional requirements. He surprised me
by saying that the bill could not be passed in any form other than the one proposed
because it would arouse unnecessary antagonism, As I stood on my position, the
proposed legislation was dropped for that session,

Two years later, Mr. Wertheimer was elected to the Legislature from Allegheny

County, Almost immediately, he introduced the bill in the form in which it had
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been presented to me. As a result of some skillful manoeuvering under the
guidance of the state organization, it became a law and remsined on the statube
books until the adoption of the Eighteenth Amendment to the Federal Constitution,
all the great distilling interests teking advamtaze of its provisions.

In consequence, for nearly thirty years, tens of millions of dollars were
represented by capital stock illegally issued, but few seemed to be aware of
the condition. The question of the legality of the act was never raiaed in the
courts, where it would have been promptly overthrown as in plain and intentional

contravention of several fundamental provisions of the state constitution.
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Defeat of the Grade Crossing Monstrosity.

House Bill, No. 52, was considered the greatest corporation
grab of the session. Owing largely to the courageous speeches and
effective work of Mr. Shiras, the taxpayers of Pittsburgh, Alle-
gheny and Philadelphia have been saved millions of dollars, and
their communities freed from a measure that made new railroad
enterprises an impossibility. Neither threats directed against his
own bills or spacious pleas deterred him from doing his duty in the
hour when the public slept and the enemy occupied every post.
The following communication from one of the county's reliable and
zealous citizens bears testimony to the narrow escape the county
had from first being robbed and then imprisoned:

M Lo f
John Hood, Esq., Member of the Feed and Flour Exchange.

“As a member of the Joint Committee from the Chamber of
Commerce and the Feed and Flour Exchange, sent to Harrisburg to
assist in the defeat of House Bill No. 52, I take great pleasure in
having an opportunity to say a few words in commendation of Mr.
Shiras’ valuable service while a representative at Harrisburg. Aec-
customed as I am to notice all movements that have had any bear-
ing on the commerce of our City and State, I became interested in
House Eill No. 52, Flll'])ol’lh’lg to be for the ‘protection of life and
property in cities of the first and second class.” This measure was
in fact, a scheme to prevent the bullding of any more rival roads
in the State. and further, to compel the cities to spend millions in
the behalf of existing corporations. In the language of the Phila-
delphia Board of Trade .it would ‘as a law deny all new railroad
companies practicable access to the cities of Philadelphia and
Pittsburgh, and the bill should be entitled a law to forbid com-
petition with established roads.”"

“It provided that the cost of constructing the necessary under-
grade or overgrade ecrossings ‘should be equally divided between
the railroads and the city,” and that the consequential damages be
summarily divided—which might cost MILLIONS OF DOLLARS
IN TAXES. New roads were to pay all expenses, and besides be
denied necessary terminal facilities.’

Mr. Shiras, with the honest convictions that the Shiras family
possess, and with the keen appreciation of the great injury the
bill would inflict upon his constituents, as well upon the whole
State, sounded the alarm the instant the nature of the bill wns
detected. The cunning deception and gross injustice of the bill
fired his indlgnation, prompting him to a vigorous fight against
the measure from its discovery to the final defeat in the Senate by
one majority. While Mr. Shiras was not opposed to the prompt
abolition of all dalr:igemus grade crosslnfs‘ but heartly in favor of
the same, he regarded the text of this bill Pmposlng the same as a
mere screen for a measure gotten up and fostered entirely by and
for corporation purposes. After Mr. Shiras’ bitter denunciation of
the bill on the floor of the House (and he alone spoke inst it
on final passage), the six large commercial exchanges in Philadel-
nhia and the two in our city became aroused to the dangers that
threatened the ity. . All ¢ 1 resolutions condemning the
bill and were seconded by similar resolutions from the Select and
Common Councils of the City of Allegheny, therein the Citfy's Re?-

the geg

resentatives were reqiuested to vote against any features of
posses
by the city or In any manner impose any cost upon the city in

nending ‘that would in any way curtail the powers now

changing existing grades, without the assent of the ci ' Com-
mittees from all these exchanges visited Harrisburg, an lﬁy their
united efforts, the pressure became too stronf and the bill failed
of becoming a law by just one vote. Mr. Shiras’ vigorous efforts
against the measure won the confidence of the large eastern dele-

tions, and his zeal and faithfulness were so appreciated. that
uring the whole struggle they manifested more confidence in him
than in their own representatives. His independence, cou and
ability were qualities needed thenm, and should be acceptable to
even a large constituency now.

“JOHN HOOD.” |

f%1&:
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EXPRESSIONS OF GOOD WILL BY THE AUTHOR'S
COLLEAGUES ON THE JUDICIARY GENERAL COMMITTEE
The year following the conclusion of my brief term of service in the Legislature,

I was unexpectedly forced into a campaign for the Republican nomination to Congress.
Regardless of party affiliations, all my fellow members on the Judiciary Committee
endorsed, in written form, my candidacy. This was a most unusual proceeding 4n a
contest between candidates at a primary election. These endorsement are published
here, not becuase they are commendatory from a personal point of view, but
because thepe expressions of good will seem to indicate that the duties imposed
on me in the Legislature had been satisfactorily performed, Therefore, they

constitute a part of this record.
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Some ldea of the Estlmation Iin Which Mr. Shiras Was Held by
His Colleagues In the Legislature, WIll Appear from the
Following Letters, All the Writers of Which Were
Co-Members of the Judiclary General Com-
mittee With Mr. Shiras.

(Used in the Shiras-Stone Election of 1890.)

HON. HENRY HALL, MERCER COUNTY,
Chairman of Judiclary General Committee.
MERCER, PA., April 28th, 189%0.
“During my association with Hon. George Shiras 3d, on the
Judiciary General Committee, and in the House, we became very
well acquainted, and it gives me pleasure to say that I found him a
gentleman of the highest character, an able lawyer, and a Legisla-
tor who fave careful and intelligent consideration to every measure
presented. His discussions of pending Legislation were clear and
forcible, and always commanded the attention of his fellow mem-
bers. I know of no new member who stood higher or exerted a
more powerful influence. Very truly yours,
“HENRY HALL.”

HON. C. C. THOMPSON, WARREN CO.,
Secretary of Judiclary General Committee and Speaker
of the House In 1892,
WARREN, PA., April 4th, 1890.
“As Secretary of the Judiciary General Committee in the last
session of the Legislature, I became quite well acquainted with the
Hon. George Shiras 23d, also a member of that committee. I al-
ways found him an active, earnest and conscientious worker, both
in Committee and on the floor of the House. His conduct and
faithful work seemed to gain him the confidence of his fellow mem-
bers. Very truly,
“C. C. THOMPSON."”

JUDGE J. C. JOHNSTON, CAMERON CO.,
EMPORIUM, PA., April 234, 1890.

“1 learned some time ago of Mr. Shiras’ candidacy in the
Twenty-third district and was eatly pleased to hear that his
rospects were so encouraging. was associated with him on the
udiciary General Committee of the House in the last Legislature,
and had the esteemed pleasure of becoming acquainted with Mr.
Shiras' abllity as a lawyer and Legislator. I unhesitatingly place
him among the leaders of thought and action in the last House,
and one of the ablest men on our Committee. I was an admirer
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of Mr. Shirus’ tact, courage, integrity and ability, displayed on
important occasions, during the session of the last Legislature.
“Very truly yours,
“J. C. JOHNSTON.”

"HON. P. M. LYTLE, HUNTINGTON, PA.

HUNTINGTON, PA., May 8th, 1890.

“I had the honor to serve with Mr. Shiras on the Judiciary
General Committee during the last session of the Legislature. At
the very beginning of his service it was apparant that, although
much younger than many of his colleagues, he was far above the
average In point of ability as a lawyer. His abllity was recog-
nized, not only in Committee, but upon the floor of the House as
well. This, added to his integrity, gave him an influence seldom
enjoyved by a new member. Truly yours,

P. M. LYTLE.”

HON. JOHN H. FOW, PHILADELPHIA COUNTY.

PHILADELPHIA, April 25, 1890.

“‘Although a Democrat—if I lived in the district—I would feel
very much inclined to cast my vote for Mr. Shiras. He is a young
man of ability—his honesty cannot be questioned, and the earnest-
ness with which he championed causes before the Judiciary General
Committee,of which I was also a member, and also on the floor of
the House, indicated to me that he is one of the few public officials
that I have met in political life, who are always ready to subordinate
private feelings for the public good. That is, I recognized in Mr.
Shiras a man who always jealously guarded the rights of his con-
stituents, and allowed no legislation to pass, that affected those
rights unless he raised his voice in protest. The people of the 23d
District would be honored by his election.

Yours Respectfully,
JOHN H. FOW.”

HON. JOHN M. ROSE, CAMBRIA COUNTY.
JOHNSTOWN, PA., April 23,1890.

‘“Some time since, I noticed that the many friends of George
Shiras, Esq., were making great efforts to have him allow the use
of his name in the next Congressional contest in his district, and I
thought at the time that it was a just tribute to his worth as a
Legislator. During my sojourn with him at Harrisburg last winter,
I found him a brilliant young man, and fully worthy all the con-
fidence placed in him. He at once took a front rank among the
members, and is certainly competent to discharge the duties of a
Congressman. Yours Truly,

JOHN M. ROSE.”

HON. JAMES L. PUGH, SOMERSET COUNTY.

SOMERSET, PA., April 27th, 1890.

*“I served with Mr. George Shiras 3d, in the Judiciary General
Committee in the House session of 1889, and found him a live, wide
awake and efficient member. He did good service on the Com-
mittee, especially such bills as interested his constituents—on the
floor of the House he was able and industrious, and took an import-
ant part in the discussion of the most important legislation, and
rendered much valuable aid in securing the passage of the bills
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regulating'smte and National Banks, those affecting the State
Board of Charities, and procedure in the Orphans' Court. He was
independent and never hesitated to expose doubtful bills.
Yours Very Truly,
J. L. PUGH.”

CAPTAIN GEO. W. SKINNER, FULTON COUNTY.

“There is nothing that could be said of the record of Mr. Shiras
In the last session of the Legislature, except by way of commenda-
tion. He was industrious and painstaking both in the Committee
room and on the floor of the House, and so far as my recollection
now goes his votes and speeches were on the side of the people.

Yours Very Truly,
GEO. W. SKINNER.”

HON. JAMES D. LEE, PHILADELPHIA.

“Mr. Bhiras was one of the most earnest and able laborers on
the Judiciary General Committee, and also on the floor of the
House. He was always at his post of duty. Honest, earnest,
brave, sincere and courteous, he won alike the respect of friends
and opponents. I remember particularly his speech in the House
on a certain bill affecting. the interests of his constituents, and I
know it was universally conceded to have been one of the very best
efforts from any source during the session. As a sincere friend and
admirer of Mr. Shiras, I predict he will make his mark, and feel
sure no constituency will ever regret the selection of such a rep-
resentative, whether for State or National legislation.

Yours Respectfully,
JAMES D. LEE.”

HON. FRANK M. RITER, PHILADELPHIA.

1 met Mr. Shiras at the commencement of the last session of
the Legislature, and as members of the Judiciary General Commit-
tee, we were together several hours daily until the close of the
session in May 1899. Mr. Shiras was universally recognized as a
gentleman of unusual ability, and fortunately possessing that val-
uable learning—which gave character and intelligence to all that
he did. He was respected by every one, and I, with all his many
friends, shall be glad, indeed, to learn of any honor that he may
achieve. Very truly yours,

FRANK M. RITER”
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SAFEGUARD AGAINST HASTY LEGISLATION

In Pennsylvania and many other states, the consideration or enzctment of
legislation is so safeguarded that no member can sver assert that bills were
ezlled up or snacted into law without having due notice., Under the state
constitution, when measures are first introduced, the titde is first read by the
member introdueing the bill and resd agein by the Speaker when he announces the
committee to which it has been referred. When reported out favorably, it is
placed on the calendar and must be read at length three times on three separete
days. On the second reading, it mey be amended. Cn the third reading it comes
up for finai consideraticn and may be defeated or passed by a majority vote,
although amendments may be made by going into the GBommittee of the Whole.
Moreover, the proposed legislation must relcte& to only one subject, whild
the title of the bill must clearly indicate its purposes. This procedure is
in striking contrast to XX the slipshcd and careless manner in which Congréss

legislates as nointed out later,

Detection of the "Grade Crossing" Monstrosity

There was one bill, however, that did not attraet attention until it was
ealled uﬁ in the House for second reading on Februszry 14, 1889, It had a
deliberately misleading title as follewss: ™A bill to insure public safety by
regulating grade crossings in cities of the first and second class.," This measure
being limited to Philadelpnia =nd Pittsburgh was of concern to comparatively few
members, Moreover, it was in line with the efforts to do away with the many
casualties at railroad crossings in the larger cities; theréfore, it was accepted,
at its face value, as a wise measure.

When the bill was e=lled up, I happened to read its provisions because the
city of Allegheny that I represented in part was soon likely to be consolidated
with Pittsburgh., It would, thereby, come within the scope of the proposed

regulation, I discofered almost immediately that the measure should have been
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entitled, ":& bill to prevent the entry of new railroads into cities of the first
and second class," For the bill contained a section exempting existing railroeads
from the other provisions of the act, At the seme time, it required new railroads
seeking entry into these eities to elevate their tracks at the municipal boundaries
for a distance of ten or fifteen miles, at an enormous coste. Furthermore the
bill did not give to the new systems terminal facilities within the business
portion of the town., Thus, it effectuslly barred competitive lines in the future.

This scheme was a good illustration of corporation control of the Legislature
and of an attempted deception by a cunningly devised and apparently harmless
titles, The immediate beneficiaries of the act would heve been the Pennsylvenia,
the Reading, the Pittsburgh and La.kegf&;‘r-f,&’and the Baltimore and Ohio Railroadsj
the last one , by the way, wes represented by my firm as @eneral Counsel
in western Pennsylvania Except for the first road mentioned, the other lines

were inactive in promoting the measure at Harrisburg,
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CAMPATGN AGAINST COL. BAYNE N f/jf%

"5/""'3’ MOTIVE FOR ENTERING THE CONTEST

When the time approached for the biennial primaries, I declared that I would
not again be a candidate for the Legislature. This statement was made as a
confirmation of my earlier declaration that I would serve but one term in the
state Legislature. This simple notice occasioned a series of incidents which
many people would have regarded as of no great importance. They were, however,
destined to shape much of my subsequent career,

The publication of the story that I would not be a camdidate was
commented on by pobitical friends of Judge White as evidence that becausme of
their influence with the voters, I was afraid to run again. I knew that
Judge White was not responsible for these assertions for reasons already given.
But in view of the fact that I had suppressed much damaging evidence affecting
the accused jurist, which had been unearthed on my return to Pittsburgh, I was
greatly tempted to enter the field to make clear that I was willing to meet the
issue,

While deciding what might best be done, I econceived the idea of showing my
standing with my constituénts by what would have all the earmarks of a bonafide
candidacy for Congress against Col, Thomas M. Bayne. Col. Bayne, after his 18
years of service in the House had won a high position in his party, both in Washe=
ing ton and at home., The time waw, as a matter of fact, much too brief to give
me & fair opportunity for a successful cempaign against Bayne, even if I coilld
have defeated him under any circumstances, However, I hoped that by setting up
delegates in my legislative déstrict and securing their election by a substantial
majority to make it clear for all time that I could have had a second term in the

Legislature if I had wanted it.

THE CONTEST IN THE REPUBLICAN PRIMARIES AGAINST COL. BAYNE
The twenty-third Congeessional Districf,changed lately to the tweniy-ninth,

was composed of the City of Allegheny and all the boroughs and townships north

Memoirs_Box1_Folder12_60.tif



-— ~

R -2-

of the Ohio River, containing a population of about 200,000, The majority of

the voters resided in Allegheny, Consequently, this group dominated in the number
of delega$es to the Congressional Convention which was composed of about 140
members,

As the first step in my plan, I consulted with Major Kennedy who previously
had had charge of my candidacy for the Legislature. He was much surprised at my
motives but goodnaturedly gave way to my plan. It required but little time to
select the delegates in the first legislative distriet, for most of them had
represented me in the other contest. In.a dgy or two, it became known that I
had entered the Congressional primaries against Colonel Bay ne, but no one except
intimate friends knew my purpose. As Colonel Bayne had only once before been
opposed for the nomination, the newspapers devoted considerable space to this
unexpected development.

The Commercial Gazette, for fifty years the Republican organ in Western
Pennsylvania, and a paper of commanding influence, announced that it would support
Colonel Bayne in every possible way. The paper stated that it would regard the
defeat of this Congressman toward the end of his brillient career as a great
calamity. One small paper of limited circulation was equally emphatic in my
support. But the other papers were neutral and neither candidate could complain
of not getting fair treatment from these latter papers,

As I expected, the gfeat majority of the manufacturers and corporations,
the farmers in the rural districts and the Civil War veterans gave almost
unqualified support to my opponent. This, however, did not distmmb me, as my
campaign for delegates in the first legislative distriect would not be mmeh influenced
by the elements going to Bayne.

Then strange shings began to happen. From all over the district came
assurances of much popular support, composed of the younger Republican element
with a large number of local politicians who, for one reason or another, were on
unfriendly terms with the old-time Congressman who incurred, as is so often the

case, the emmity of disappointed office holde®s and their friends. It was not
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until James G. Wyman, Mayor of Allegheny, announced that he and his

administration would do everything possible for me that coherence was given to

the opposition, For Wyman was regarded as the most powerful and successful

leader in his city, expecially was he the cont;olling force in the party primaries.
This was followed by an announcement from the Allegheny River Improvement

Association that every member in its ranks would oppose the nomination of Colonel

Bayne, whom they charged with an habitual neglect of their interests, Thus, it

will be seen that many of my unexpected supporters belonged to a class that did not

love me more, but Bayne less. The upshot &f it all was that three weeks before

the primaries, a number of disinterested leaders declar&d that in all probability

I could defeat Bayne., Thereupon, I was forced, with some reluctance, to set up

delegates in every voting precinet in the distriet., Otherwise, I would be

disregarding the wishes of many friends in addition to making it apparent that

I was not a bona fide candidate, a faet which I had hoped to conceal at the

beginning of my campaign.
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_ COLONEL STONE COMES TO THE FRONT

A A week precéding the primaries, everything was running smoothly, and I had
fair hopes of success, unexpected as it was. Then came another change in political
currents, for I recieved an unexpected message from Colonel William A. Stone
stating that he would like to talk over the political situation Rmxxmmx with me.

Up to this time, Colonel Stone, a former U.S. District Attorney and the
head of the traction interests in Allegheny ha&, with his many political associates,
remained neutral in this contest. For several years, Stone was regarded as one
who desired to succeed Colonel Bayne but apparently feared to cross swords with
such a powerful opponent, He was patiently waiting a break of some sort that
would give him a chance, Therefore, I tried to guess the object of the visit.

Stone opened the interview with the statement that he understood that I

would not be a cnzdidate again for Congress in case I were nominated and elected.
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I told him that agch was my resolve., He then asked if I would pledge my word
to him that I would not run again. If I did this and agreed to support him as
my successor, he stated that he and all his friends would support my candidacy
and, thus, ensure my election,

I told him rather curtly that I could neither pkedge myself not to run
again nor to support him at the end of my term. In explaining this, I told him
that my refusal to run again was made known to the publie and not secretdy
to any individual, Moreover, I asserted that I could not agree to support him
on my retirement from Congress because I believed my successor should be chosen
by the Republican voters and not by any special influence I might possess in
mtiriné frm:n this office,

This attitude seemed to surprise my visitor, and he left in apparent
disappointment. Two days later came the announcement in the press that Colonel
Stone and his friends had come outstrongly for Bayne. 1t was not until later
that I learned how the change had been brought about. At first I merely
concluded that this ambitious gentleman concluded that he had a better chance
to succeed Bayne in the near future than a younger candidate who might wish to
continue on in the office indefinitely,

Then came another switch., Definite word was received at my headquarters
that Mayor Wyman and his administration had agreed to remain neutral in the
primaries. As many of my delegates in the City of Allegheny hed either been
put up by the Mayor or were receiving his ardent support, it required'many

chenges in the delegates and much consequent frictiom.
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HAD TO GIVE UP HIS STOLEN COAT

Notwithstanding the action of the mass meeting, the utterances of leading
citizens, and a press united in its condemnation of Stone's dishonorable conduct,
the latter refused to give up the nomination, saying that he had gotten the
nomination fairly and was not to be influenced by the ill-tempered criticism
of his political enemies,

Thereupon, a2 petition was circulated requesting the Republican County
Committee to call a special meeting for the purpose of declaring Stone's
nomination illegal and to call a new primary election to select a Congressional
candidate. Pending the meeting and action of the County Committee, I went
to my surmer home on Lake Superior for a short stay. This gave me a much needed
chance to rest and to dedide upon my course should a new primary be held,

When Stone learned authoritatively that the County Committee was practically
unanimous in finding the nomination illegal, he made the best of a bad situation
by giving up the nomination and stating he would be a candidate at the primaries
when called, While personally very much opposed to going into another contest,
I realized that the request of my friends could not be lightly ignored.
Moreover, I felt it was my duty to lead in a n effort to punish those
politicians who had so flagrantly betrayed their party.

By this time, I knew full well the nature of the ensuing contest and that
I should have arrayed against me a vast sum of money on the part of those
trying to save themselves from political extinction and a werdiect of over-
whelming condemnation, To avert this end, in addition to lavish expenditures
there would be brought into play every political drick and every form of
coercion likely to save the joint conspiracy of Bayne and Stone to achieve
their ends, Had their been a direct primary and a popular vote, I would have
had no misgivings, but under the delegate system where the nomination was
made in convention, I saw many difficul ties ahead. The new primaries were

fixed for September, preceding the fall election by only a few weeks,
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On my return froﬁ the West, I was glad to hear that Mayor Wyman and his
administration had promised me their unqualfied support. Although I did not
have much faith in the mayor's promises, I knew beyond question that Wyman
and Stone hed long been bitter personal and political enemies. So, I felt at
this time the breach would not be closed as it would greatly impair the mayor's
prestige if he joined hands with his arch enemy. He would also ley himself

wide open to the charge of corruption if he should switeh his support now.
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THE CLOSING DAYS OF THE CAMPAIGN

Two weeks before the primaries it became c¢learly apparent that my opponent
based his hope of success on the lavish use of money and every possible form
of coercion, It was plain that the Bayne-Stone combination had lost hope
of winning by fair means and that, from their standpoint, they felt justified
in saving themselves from political oblivion by any tactics, however
despicable. It was not until weeks afterwards, however, that the full amount
of money expended by the opposition was revealed, But I was satisfied that
I had behind me the great preponderance of the voters, and it did not seem
possible to thwart their wishes.

Thén came disquieting rumors that Mayor Wyman was once more preparing
to switch his allegiance. If these were so, it would affect the fidelity of
many of my delegates in the City of Allegheny who had either been put up
for me by the mayor or were otherwise under his control. Detectives were
employed at once, and their reports showed beyound a doubt that the city
administration, from top to bottom, was working for the Stone delegates.

To correct this situation, I had many of these delegates retire in favor of
more faithful substitutes; this, of course, caused much friction,

On the day of the primaries word came nearly every hour to my headquarters
that certain of my delegates had disappeared from the polling places, leaving
me unrepresented. After the close of the polls and the day following, it was
learned that more than a dozen of my delegates, elected in my behalf, had
transferred their credentials either to the losing delegate or to someone else
favoring Colonel Stone,

Contests numbering more than thirty were started in precincts where I
had been corruptly deprived of my delegates, either by a transfer of credentials
or by the sending of my representatives out of town.

When the convention assembled in the mayor's stronghold, the City Hall,

a motion was made to send these cases to the Committee on Contested Seats.
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Many affidavits haed been made bearing on the contests, besides the surmoning

of more than a hundred witnesses., When the motion referred to was made, the

objection was raised to a hearing on the contest on the ground that the notices

of such contests had been filed one hour late., It was alleged that the notices

instead of being presented at noon the day before, had not reached the

secretary of the distriect committee until one p.m. Thereupon, George E. Shaw,

a brilliant young lawyer and a successful delegate from my ward, protested

against the effort to block a hearing. He pointed out that at the previous

convention, Colonel Stone had been nominated in violation of every fundamental

rule governing the election or convention and that for these same forces now

ro raise a purely technical point of ko moment would bring about a more

corrupt nomination than on the first ocecasion., The Republican party, he

avowed, could ill afford to have a convention again openly defy the wishes

of a great majority of the voters, especially as none of the contested election
but upon charges of fraud;

cases was based upon a technicality; nor, he insisted, could so many contests

have been filed sooner.

The chairman, however, decided that the rule having been invoked, it
was for the majority of the convention to decide whether the time limit should
be extended an hour, When such a motion was made, the fraudulently elected
delegates were permitted to vote, thus assuring Colonel Stone a majority of
four in the convention insteadof being defeated by nearly fifty votes,
Thereupon, on the request of one of my floor leaders, those delegates supporting
me were asked to leave the hall so as not to participate in another fraudulent
nomination,

The retiring delegates found the door leading into the hallway locked,
with a policeman standing guard. On his refusing to open the door, a two
hundred pound delegate of mine from the borough of Etna threatened to throw
the policeman out of the window unless he opened the door. This delegate

shouted that the officer had no authority to put the convention under arrest.
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This threat.aurficed, and as the door swung open, Chief of Police Murphy
and two lieutenants were found on the other side of the threshold, tacitly
showing how Mayor Wyman had been exerting his influence., As the delegates
filed out a cheer was heard from the other end of the hall, giving evidence
that Colonel Stone was once more the victor as the result of his utter

disregard for fair play or decency.

NOMINATED IN ANOTHER CONVENTION

After my delegates had retired from the convention that had nominated
Colonel Stone by strong-armed tactics, they assembled in a nearby hall.

Here the convention was formally organized and my contesting delegates
declared duly elected, thus giving me a large majority.

On motion, my name was presented as a candidate, and I was unanimously
elected. Thereupon, I was sent for and addressed the gathering, After expressing
mw-great appreciation for the faithful support given me in the campaign
and for the honor tendered me in the newly organized convention, I declined to
accept the nomination. In explanation, I pointed out that it was then too
late to test the legality of my opponent's nomination in the courts. Were
I forced to run as an independent candidate, I stated, it meant the election
of a Democrat to Congress in a three cornered fight. This result should be
avoided when the upholding of the tariff was a matter of vital economiec
importance to Western Pennsylvania as well as to the country at large.

I concluded by meking three pledges: First, that Colonel Stone would
bexpmmxmd opposed at the next election by & suiteble candidate; second, that
I would immediately take steps to punish eriminally or otherwise those
politicians who had been responsible for the corrupt control of the convention
nominating Colonel Stone; third, that in behald of our party I would try to
bring about a better and more representative method of nominating candidates
at the primeries, My express intention of punishing those ghilty of fraud

or coercion was greeted with prolonged applause,
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A SUCCESSFUL REFORM MOVEMENT

# BEGINNING OF THE REFORM MOVEMENT

I was determined to secure the punishment of the men guilty of fraud
and corruption in the two previous congressional primaries, but I quickly
discovered that it was a difficult thing to bring about., I had ample
evidence of the bribing and coercion of my delegates and the purchase of
potitical leaders pledged to my support. But I found, in the course of my
inquiry, that the existing primery regulations had no legal standing. They
were extra-legal rules for procedure developed and accepted by the several
politiezl parties. Congequently, there was really no legal redress for
frauds in a primary contest.

Realizing that any direct attack in the courts on my politécal foes
was impracticable, I decided to take a different line., Vigorous protests
were formulated and sent to Postmaster General Wanamaker against the
activities of the assistant postmaster of Allegheny. This worthy's contribu-
tion to the conspiraecy had been the purchase and transfer of credentials to
defeated candidates for delegates. The protests were as effective as they
were emphatic, and his removal speedily followed., A similar procedure in
the case of the Collector of Internal Revenue for the distriet brought a
sharp reprimand for his interference in the selection of party candidates.
The reprimand was shortly followed by his resignation.

I was, however, much more interested in securing the punishment of
Mayor Wyman, whose betrayal of my interests in each of the primary contests
was currently believed to have been in consideration of a substantial price.
As he was safe from direct attack, for the reasons stated above, I cast about
for other ways of reaching him, Definite information bearing out current
report of the mayor's corruption in the discharge of his official duties
suggested the way. Deeming it inadvisable that I, or my political advisers,

should press for an investigation, I set myself to the task of building up
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a reform orgsnizéticn that would take the initiative .

Distrust of Mayor Wyman and his methods was so prevalent that there was
little difficulty in enrolling some 100 prominent citizens of Allegheny in
such a movement. The work was largely in the hands of well known young business
men, with Robert A, Lea acting as tempcrary chairman. As it was my desire
to keep in the background, I and my advisers saw to it that the membership
contained none of my more active supporters. The immediate purpose was to
secure an audit of the mayor's accounts. So great was the feeling aroused
by his unsavory methods, that without any urging from us, the association
pressed its demand for the audit with the greatest vigor on the select and
common éouncil of the city. These bodies alone, by joint resolution, could
authorize the inquiry.

The majority of the councilmen were under the control of the mayor and
his political associates, but the members included a number of men who were
independent in their views and, also, possessed of great courage and integrity.
Another groupwas susceptible to the influence of a movement such as we had
put on its feet, particularly as i had strong endorsements from the press,

At the outset of the movement, I was requested the executive committes, :
because of my knowledge of locel conditions and because it believed I would
present the facts fairly and without personal bias, to prepare a series of
bulletins outlining the purposes of the association. This I consented to do,
with the understanding that it should not become known that I was the author.

Continued pressures from the association and the press soon resulted

in the council's directing an auidt of the Mayor's books,

REPORT OF THE AUDITORS
After a careful examination of the mayor's records, the auditors reported
that the Mayor had obtained thousands of dollars by illegal methods. I

was charged that he had been guilty of many cases of extortion through
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the imposition of fines which he pocketed as a part of his compensation in
the trial of cases. For instance, in directing a raid against alleged
disﬁrﬂerly houses, he would fine the defendant in a nominal emount and then
charge each with all the costs instead of pro rata. This excess, the Mayor
would retain for himself, As the fines were small the defendants made no
protest.

In other instances, the docket showed the defendant discharged on the
payment of costs, while the mayor pocketed the fines not disclosed by the
record, In some instances, the fines were split between the city and mayor.

After the puditor's report was taken up for consideration by the City
Council, the Pittsburgh Leader, in its news column, reported the situation as

follows
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After these disclosures, I consulted with the District Attorney of the
county who favored an immediate presentment to the grand jury. Furthermore,

I engaged one of the leading criminel lawyers of the local bar to assist in
the prosecution. The tetainer that I paid him was afterwards returned to me
by the reform association,

On the return of an indictment and the trial of the case, great interest
was manifested throughout the community, for it was the first time that a
mayor of one of our larger citiew had been charged with extortion and
embazzlement.

After a trial lasting nearly a week before Judge Kennedy, the sitting in
the Quarter Sessions Court, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all points.
The Commercial Gazette, in an editorial, refers to the great benefit coming
from this successful prosecution, as follows:

"Let it be understood from this time on that every job and jobber will be
shown up., When men who ought to be doing time in the work-house or jail
aspire to fill important and honorable positions, let them be told in plain
English that they will not be permitted to take the oath of office,
even though they succeed in having themselves chosen. Men who know they
have been blackmailers, and who have condoned and tolerated crime for a
consideration, may as well understand first as last that they will be
brought up with a short turn in the courts if they persist in forcing them-
selves into positions that they have neither the ability nor the honesty
to £ill. Once establish this precedent and it will not be long untill good
men will come to the fpomt and offer themselves for these positions of
trust.”

A REVEALING INTERVIEW

During the week following the conclusion of the case, the convicted
mayor remained at liberty by a renewal of his bond pending the motion for
a new trial. One morning the office boy told me, with an air of suppressed
excitement that Mayor Wyman was in the waiting room and would like to see me.

As he crossed the threshold I noticed his changed appearance, And as
he sank down in a chair I motioned him to take, it was plain that he had

come to ask for mercj. Perhaps, I thought, he might reveal the record of
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of his recent treachery. In a husky voice and with tears in his eyes, he
spoke of his downfall and the shame that had come to his wife and children,
"ind all this,” he said, "because friends that should have helped me have
apperently rejoiced over my plight.” Thereupon I interrupted him by saying,
"The friends you refer to were Congressman Bayne and Colonel Stone, two of
your former political enemies. These two, having gotten out of you what
they wanted, are doubly pleased that you are headed for prison.”

At these remakrs of mine, the large and bulky figure cowered in the
chair. All he could say was, "I want help from the one whom I hurt."

This scene took me back some years before when, near the shores of Lake
Superiér, I hed trapped a huge timber wolf, the slayer in its day of hundreds
of deer, As I stood close by the trap, the animal with bloodshot eyes
seemed to be appealing for merch., The mercy came in the form of a bullet v
through its brain, In trapping the Mayor I could not thus summarily dispose
of him, Therefore, I figured on receiving information that could come
only from his lips. Before fixing upon terms of surrender, I asked him
just what he wanted me to do., To this, the Mayor responded that he hoped
I would see Judge Kennedy, who presided at his trial, and that I would suggest
to the court,which had already ihtimated a sentence to the penitentiary,
that justice would be done if he were sent to the workhouse instead. Other-
wise, the Mayor pleaded, he would lose his right of cit-izenship, becoming
a social and political outcast the rest of his life.

I then explained that there were a number of things which must be done
before I could think of doing what he wished. I asked him if he would make
a clean breast of his doings in the two Congressional primaries and if, after
going so, he would resign from office without taking an appeal to the higher *
courts. He evidently realized that I could not be placated in any other way.
Thereupon, he told me how he had reeeived $3000.00 from a representative of

Congressman Bayne on the condition that he withdraw his support from me.

Memoirs_Box1_Folder12_76.tif



Vi £

And, he added triumphantly, he was not required to oppose me openly. Again
I interrupted him by saying that what he told about the first campaign did
not apply to the second one against Colonel Stone in which he hed not only
deserted me but actually supported my opponent in every possible way. "What
did you get for this?" I asked. After a moment's hesitation, he said, "I got
$15000,00 in cash for myself and $5000.00 for certain police officials. In
addition, I arranged for the payment of a considerable sum of money to certain
delegates of yours." Minor details were then given which need not be mentioned
here.

When Judge Kennedy learned of the Mayor's confession to me and his
agéreeﬁent that he would resign his office amd stand for sentence without an
appeal which might mean a year's delay, the Judge sent him to the workhouse

out of consideration for what he had done and agreed to do.

BEGINNING OF A NEW REGIME

With the Mayor duly incercerated and his office vacated, a special
election was callaﬁ for the selection of a successor. With the opposition
badly demoralized and the leaders fearing exposure ard possible prosecution,
no counter movement was started against the election of my uncle and campaign
manager, William M. Kennedy. His later induction into office put an end to
the old Wyman machine., And all the time, Messrs., Bayne and Stone kept
discreetly silent.

It was thereupon conceded that at the next Congressional campaign I
would have little if any difficulty in disposing of Colonel Stone. But the
question naturally arose as to why I should be such a candidate when I had
originally no desiré to go to Congress and had only been forced into the
previous contest by a strange combination of circumstances.

Most of my friends and a good portion of the public took the view that

I should enter the contest once again as a matter of perscnal and political
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, ’ THE ATTEMPTED IMFEACHMENT OF JUDGE WHITE

’ The most interesting and exciting event during the writer's
:serviée as a member of the legislature wes his effort to have Judge
Je We White of the Common Pleas Court, No. 2, removed from office
by impeadhment, based upon the charges of malfeasance in the
discharge of his judicial duties, during the previous years
In 1887 the legislature passed the Brooks High License
law, wnich in aédition to requiring the payment annually of
$1,000.00 also placed the granting or refusal of all license
applications in the hands of the judges of the Common Pleas
Court of each countye ‘
By the time the legislature had convened in 1889 it was the
generzl opinion that this new law had been a great gsuccass, not
only in the enrichment of the county treasury, but more part-
icularly in the large reduction of the number of licenses hereto-
fore granted and in the selection of a better class of licenses.
Heretofore wholesale and retail liquor licenses were granted
practically to all applicants and on the payment of a small fee
with the result that in Allegheny County and in other counties
having a large population thousands of licenses were granted ,
many of them in residential districts, and others crowded into
the business and industrial sectionse Such competitlion brought
about the vidation of practically every law regulating the sale
of intoxicants. Under the new law it was necessary for each
applicant to show that his license was nececsary for the conven-
vience of those living in the wicinity, and under this provision

the judges usually refused a license in purely residential
districts besides giving preference to hotels and restaurants
bearing a good reputation, or to those dealers whose reputation and

location justified their selection. In Allegheny County the
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licenses were reduced about two-thirds over the previous years
%nd while this naturd 1y caused much resentment among the
rejected applicants and while there were others who contended 1t
wag not a judicial function of the courts the great mass of the
people was entirely in accord with the operation of the law,
and it may be noted here that the law remained on the statute
books with no material changes until the enactment of the Eighteenth
Amendment to the Federal Gonstitution prohibiting the manu=
facture, sale and transportation of intoxicantse.

The annual session of the License Court of 1889 in
Allegheny Bounty was presided over by J. We F. White, one
of the oldést and most experienced members of the local judic-
iary. While at the public hearings at this sesslon of the court
it was surmised from the actions of Judge White that the number
of licenses to be granted would be materially reduced over that
of the previous year. This proved to be the case for only about
100 licenses were granted, but what caused the greatest sur-
prise was the refudBal of licenses to well-managed hotels and
restaurants or other suitable applicants and the giving of lic=
enses to new applicants or to those least worthy; some of thenm
being in residentlial sections. Except in the case of extremists
the press and the public tnitedly condemned Judge White's
actions. It was seen at a glance that great fortunes would be
rolled up by the few possessing a license and that the matter
of public accommodation had been largely ignored. Ais the law,
gave each licensed Judge the arbitrary right to grant or refuse

a license there was no remedy avallable in meeting this unexpected

situation. After the License Court had adjourned, it was disclosec
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by the records that nearly one-half the successful applicants
?ﬂd been represented in court by a nephew of Judge White, and
many were the surmises as to the large size of the fees collected
by this lawyer. Untll this disclosure the daily press had treated
Judge White leniently, several giving expression to the belief
that this judge who had heretofore occupied an exalted poskion
on the bench had been unduly swayed by his abhorrance of the
liguor traffic, and that he had taken advantage of an oppor=-
tunity to give expression to this belief by granting only a
few licenses, and those who critized him thought it would be
much bette; if he had granted no licenses and thus stood upon the
interpretation of the law that he possessed the power to make the
county dry. After it was found that the court had-indulged
in rank discrimination in the granting of licenses to those =
represented by a relative of the Judge, criticism both public and
private became rampant, but as no demand was made for impeachment
proceedings it looked as though the situation would gradually
quiet down.

One Saturday in March when I was spending the day in my law
office after leaving Herrisburg the night before I was visited
by a meihber of the law firm of which the senior member was
the attorney previously mentioned. He told me that dissensions
had arisen in the firm over the division of the fees in License
Court natters. He alleged that a note for §5,000.-00 payable by
Judge White to his nephew had been cancelled, and that this
anount had been deducted from the license fees before apportioned
the firm, aﬁd further, that large sums of mone%??a?%e%y other
successful applicants to the senior member of the firm where he

had not appeared on the court record as counsel, bubt represented
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them secretly;so far as the public was concerned his connection
with these caces was lkmown by the courte.

After these disclosures were carefully considered I thought
it my duty to prepare a resolution of impeachment to be presented
in the lower House, imuediately upon my return to Harrisburgs
As in other states the sole power of impeachment was possessed by
the Hows e of Representatives, acting in the capacity of a grand
Jury in deternining whether an accuged public official was appare
ently guilty of the charges presented and if so satisfied the
procecdings were then transferred to the Senate to be tried by
that bodys ai conviction requiring the concurrence of- two-thirds
of the members present. BSince the Legislature was expected to
adjourn within two wecks little time was left for the preparation
of the articles of impeachment, and their presentation and passage
by the House. ©Should the lower body act in the affirmative the
Senate, being a continuing body could sit in extra session to
pass upon the charges preferred in the impeachment. I considered
it a wise policy not to 3ive.the press‘or the public any notice
of my intention, for the charges were bound to cause great excite=-
ment in the community and I shold be luportuned on all sides
by those opposing, or supporting the proceedings, and to no good
purpose. 20 the preparation of the impeachment papers I gave
as careful conslderation as wWas possible under the circumstances.
On Wednesday afternoon May 1st, I left for Harrisburg with a view
of presenting the resolution in the House the following morning and
believed - that up to that time no person in public or private
life had an inkling of what I intende doing. In fhis view I was
somewhat nistaken for at two ofclock in the morning,May 2nd I was

roused by a rapping on my bedroom door, and rising, I was confrontéd
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by Robert Simpson, the Capitol correspondent of the Pittsburgh
Dispatch. He then said he had Just recelved a telegran from

his paper stating that at the morning session of the House 1t

wes my intention to introduce & very important resolution, but
t.at the publishers did not know the character of it, and for him
to £ind out at oncey if it were possible. Simpson and I had

been friends for many years and I had implicit confidence in

his integrity, thus feeling that any information I gave him would
be kept in strictest confidence. I then explained to him my
intentions, and that I belleved he had earned the right fora
"scoopy" so dear to newspapermens It was arranged that his newspaper
could issue a special edition on or after nine ojclock that

morning, when the House would be in session and when I expected

to introduce the resolution on its convening. In the concluding

two wesks of the session the Legislature met an Hour earlier.

After the speaker had taken his seat about five minutes elapsed
before the House was called to order. At which time I rose and

geve notice I had a resolution to offer. Ae the resolution was
 belng taken by a page to the Speaker in order that he Might

present the same to the House I was hurriedly approached by Majority
Leader Andrews, who asked me what was the nature of the resolutionm,
as he anad just been informed by wire that the Pittsburgh Dispatch
had posted a bulletin giving notice of an extra edition containing

an account of the proposed impeachment of Judge White. Since

nothing could then be gained by concealment I did not contradict

his information. The Speaker after personally examining the

resolution prepared to read the same, whereupon Andrevws entered

an objection and asked that it be passed over under the rules.
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Preparations for the Consideretion of the Resolution.

It seemed the part of wisdom to remain continuously at the
capital during the few days before it could be offered again under
the rules of the House. I consulted freely with most of the members
end felt satisfied that the resolution would pass if voted upon by
two thirds of the House. The Democratic members lined up solidly
behind me, due partly for political advantage. The country members
who believed thoroughly in a new license laws, instead of being antago-
nistic took the position that Judge White's arbitrary conduct had
reflected upon the wisdom of this legislation, while the city members
from Pittsburgh and Philadelphia so subject to control by the political
leaders showed signs of breaking away from this domination regarding
the actions of the court as that of a fanatic. Doubtless this situation
was soon discovered by the floor leaders and those representing the state
organization. They argued with me that it was bad politics to try
a prominent republican judge on the eve of the gubernatorial election
which for various other reasons was involved in much doubt. Making
no headwsy in these overtures they devoted the intervening time to some
plans for circumventing it. On the second afternoon word came to me
that Judge White had arrived at the Pennsylvania station and was in
consultation with his close friend James L. Graham, then representing
an adjoining district in the City of Allegheny. 'When this visit became
known majority leader Andrews sent word to Graham that the accused
Jjudge must leave town at once or he would defeat the efforts of any of

his friends to take care of hls Interests.
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When Monday, May 6, came around I was sure that I had enough
support lined up to carry my resolution. At the afternoon
session, however, Mr. Graham rose in his place about 5.30 p. m.
and moved that the House should take a recess until 7.30 p.m.

The motion was second. The object was evidenrly for the purpose
of deleating the regular evening session by continuing the afternoon
calendar, thereby preventing the consideration of any or all
original resolutions in order under the rule of the House at
each Monday evening regular session. At mycrequest my friend
and colleague, Hon. Charles W. Robinson, hastened to his seat

and demanded a roll call on said motion, the same being duly
seconded by at least five other members; bat the demand was
ignored by the presiding offlicer, the Hon. Heney Hall, and on the
viva voce vote Mr. Robinson demanded a division to determine

the sentiment of the House. The request was also ignored, and
the House was declared to have taken a recess, without either
divieion or roll céll, and in the face of a determined and very
apparent request on the part of many members of the House.

By taking the sald recess the conslderation of original
resolutions was not in order at any time before the final
adjournment of the legislature, on May 9th, this session being
the last one, under the rules of the House for their consider-
ation. _

Mr. Robinson later told me that In & conversation with Mr.
Hall a month later, in the city of Pittsburgh, the latter in-
formed him that it had been arranged that Mr. Hall should take
the chair that aftermoon and that at 10 minutes to six MNr.

Grzham would make the motion above referred to, and the sanme

Wwas to be put immediately and declared carried on a viva voce
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vote; that this program was adhered to by him in ignorance of
a proper understanding of the matter, and that he was sorry to
have been a party to a procedure that prevented his friend, Mr.
Shiras, from stating his position or ascertaining the sentiment
of the House on the resolution.

When the effort had falled to have Judge VWhite investigated
by the legislature, I went to my summer home on Lake Superior
for a few wecks, glad of the opportunity to free my mind from the
w rry of the preceding; weeks.

On my' return I & concluded that I should take some further
eteps in the vindication of my course, even though I had no
immddiate intention of renew;ng my attack.

Although I was satisfied that the means taken by the
Republican leaders to prevent an investigation as a wise pol=-
itical move in view of the approaching gubernatorial election,
I felt certain that the means taken to cover up this scandal
had been directly instigated bp Judge Vhite's personal friends,
and that he had been a party in the execution of the schene.

Recalling that Judge White had visited Harrisburg the day
following the introduction of the laupeachment resolution and
that he had been in consuldation with representatlve James
L Graham, a personal friend, living in a district adjolining
mine, I felt certain that incriminating correspondence had
pasced between the two.

Under this belief I called at the Graham home one night
and after a few minutes general conversation I said to him
wWith more ascsurance than I really felt: ®vou received & couple
of letters from Judge White during the week I tried to have him

investigated. I would like to sec them." Apparently startled
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by this request he made no denial, saying the letters could not
be shown to me as they were confidential. I agreed with him
that under ordinary circumstances thet he was right, but that
in view of what had happened at Habrisburg this correspondence
was material in proving a conspiracy between himself as a member
of the inmpeaching body and the accused. Which being the case
I had the right to have each of them indicted for sueh an offense.
If the letters were fuarendersito me, I assured him, they would be
returned with a promise on my part that this correspondence
woulé not be published wmtil after the Judge's death, if at all,
for my sole purpose was to be in possescion of records justifying
my course in the fhegislature. This threat had an immediated
eflect and I was given two letters that bore out my suspicions.
In the first letter Judge White thanked Representative Grahanm
for the plan he had in mind of defeating the investigation, and
he continued that he hoped it would succeed. In the secJond
communication following the parliamentary trick, preventing the
consideration of the lmpeachment resolution, the accused Judge
?;pressed his heartfelt thanks for the successful manner in which
5I£n_nad been carried into effect. Photographic copies were
made of these letters and are now in my possession. When later
on Judze White learned what I had done he wrote me at length
saying he hoped that I would not stir the matter up again and
closed with the assurance that he had never doubted my honesty
of purpose and that he desired to be a friend of mine hereafter.
This was such a cmmplete surrender and such a clear admiseion that
I had been justified in my conduct that it softened my heart so far

as the future was concerned. This letter is also in my possession.
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FRIENDSHIPS OFTTHE ROUND TABLE \

A
In those larger citlies in which the county court house

happeﬁs to be located, it is customary for members of the bar-
to have their offices in the immediate vicinity of the courts.
As a result of this little groups take their lunch in a
conveniently located club, hotel or restaurant, such assocliation
often continuing for many years. The little éet of which I was
one originally consisted of only five or six, ranging between
twenty=five or bhirty years of age. Gradually the members
increased to more than a dozen. The first few years we had
agganged for us a round table so suitable for varying numbers
ahd in the downstairs dining room of a new hotel, and here
between twelve and two o'clock, the majority of the members
came regularly. Later we all became members of a new club
where the dining room was on the upper floor, and where ve
continued to gather for more than twenty years, death
occassionally removing one and another taking his place.

While in no sense a selected group it was natural that it
should be composed of those more or less assoclated in the
practice of the law, or by reason of'congeniality-

As might be expected many of us possessed individual
characteristics which might or might not be agreeable to the
group as a whole. Selfishness, egotism, undue prejudices and
eccentricities in manner or spesch was not unknown, but with thé
result of constant associatlon our dispositions became molded
in better accord, for no individual was long permitted to
evidence, any folble, mannerism or other pecullarity unaccept-

able to the rest. Even when some of the members wWere elevated
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to the local bench freedom of expressicn continued to the
very decilded advantage to the jurists, who so often prove
to become brusque or dictatorial when separated from close
contact with members of the bar. This rubbing down process
soon resulted in each of us giving up peculiarities unfavor-
able to the harmony or disposition of the group, and has, I
think, had much to do with the success of many'of them in
later years. A glance at the careers of the varlious members
after twenty~ five years of intimate contact therefore may become
1nteresting." Of the fourteen that daily gathered about the Round
Table excépt when professional duﬁ-ies prevented, the folloving :
is the record:

Two who had been younger assoclates in the distinguished
law firm of Knox and Reed had become senior members; another
became general counsel for the Pennsylvania Rallroad, while
another accepted the position of professor of law in the University
of Pittsburgh, several of them declining elevation to the bench.
The remaining nine, all of whom entered public life are desig-
nated by numerals and not by names.
1. United Statfs District Attorney, judge of the court of Common
Pleas and later a member of the Federal Eistrict Court;
2. Thirty years a meunber of one of the Courts of Commnon Pleas;
3« Leglislator and member of Congress;
4. Twenty-five years a judge of the Orphans' Court;
5« Attorney General of the United States, in the cabinets of
HMcKinley and Roosevelt, Unlted States Senator and later Secretary
of the State.Supcilor Lok

6. Judge of the Court of Common Pleas and later presiding judge
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of the State Superior Court;
7. Judge of the United States District Court;
8. Legal expert and chairman of the Board of County Appralisers, and
9. A member of the legislature, Judge of the Court of Common Pleas
and Chief Justice of the State Supreme Court. '

This brief summary would seem tolindlcate that the influence
of the found Table had helped play its part in preparing the
members for a useful and diversified public service.

However, the influence of the Round Table in keeping alive
the memor;es of the past, and in the welding of lifelong
friendships has been more esteemed by most of us than public
honor, so fleecting in comparison to enduring ties between one's

fellow men.
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HE CONTESTED ELECTION CASE OF CONNELL vs. HOWELL IN WHICH THE

AUTHOR PARTICIPATED

Events leading up to the Case

Following the nomination of candidates by the Citizens'
party, and the endorsement of the same by the Democratic organ-
lzation of Allegheny county, objections were filed to this
endorsement by a Democrat holding office under the Republican post=
master of Allegheny city, and a hearing on this issue was fixed
at Harrisburg, where such matters were decided by the Dauphin
county court.

I wag requested to take charge of this matter, and went to
Harrisburg, where I engaged well known legal counsel to appear
in our behalf. Vhile in the court room, awaiting the cali of
the case, I was much interested in a similar issue then being
considered by the Judges. At a Democratic Congressional
convention in the 10th district, William Connell, a Republican,
was endorsed over George Howell, the Democrztic aspirant. The
evidence showed plainly that Connell had debauched this convention
by a lavish use of money and by various coercive methods. So
evident was this that the court announced before adjournment
that the Democratic nominiation received by Connell was fraudulent.
the court failed, however, to give the nomination to Howell, so
that he was forced to run on an independent Democratic ticket.

When the Citizens' party case was called, the court with
equal promptness held that the Democratic endorsement was legal,
and dismissed the proceedings.

After the congressional elections I found that Howell, the
independent Democratic candidate, had been returned elected by
a majority of more than 500 votes over Connell, and had been

duly seated. Thereupon Connell began a contest against his
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‘successful rival on the ground of fraud or other irregularities.
‘This contest was designedly referred to the Committee on Elections
ﬁo. 3, composed of slx Republican members friendly to the contestant
who had served in two previous terms, while the minority was
made ﬁp of three southern Democrats from South Carolina, Mississi-
ppl, and Texas, whose appeals for honest elections were sure to
be regarded as a joke by the Republicans of the House.
Active on this committee was a Pennsylvanla member, He
Burd Cassel, and a.close personal friend of the contestant. This
member, whom I knew very well, began sollciting votes among the
Republicaﬁ members before the case had been decided by the com-
mittee. In speaking about the matter to me, he said, it would be
a nice thing to give the "old man" his seat for a Christmas
gift, and that he was going to see "Uncle Joe" about hastening
a favorable report from the committee. I told my soliclitor that
I could not promise to vote for the seating of Connell, as his
Democratic opponent had been fairly elected and would probably
have recelved a majority of 5,000 votes if he had not been deprived
of the regular party nomination by the unfalr means used by the
Republican candidate, since the Democratic candidate for governor
had carried this Congrescional district by a majority of about
6,000. In concluding this interview, I said that I did not
expect to take the floor when the contest came before the House,
for my motive might be misrepresented owing to Democratic support
I had received in nmy own case.
In the course of a few weeks the election committee, by
stricbély party vote, awarded the seat to the contestant; and

being a privilege issue, it was put on the calendar for lmmediate

consideration. By this time it had become known generally that
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#idr. Connell, the millionaire coal baron, had spent over

$100,000 in presenting his evidence before the committee,

callin some 6,000 witnesses with a view to muddling up the
contest; while his opponent, a country schoclmaster, was unable
to summon wholesale evidence of this kind on account of the pro-
hibitive expense. The committee, on finding that & number of
fraudulent or otherwise illegal votes had been caet, did not
attempt to determine for whom such ballote were cast, but

merely assumed that Howell had been the sole beneficlary of these
illegal ballote, and in this way the majorlity of the committee
found that Cormell had been elected by a little over 200 votes.

Such a method of procedure was of course preposterous.
he debate on this contest lasted saferal daye, the espeakers
geing divided on party lines, and it was evident that the case
would be decided in the same partisan way unless something could
be done to thwart this wrong. yinally I asked John Dalzell anc
several other party leaders to ;revent the unseating of the duly
elected Yemocratic candidate, saying that 1t was & farce for us
to protest against the unfair methode in the South, and at the
same time try to convince the public that a millionaire candi=-
date had been defrauded of his seat by a country schoclnaster
in our own state. Each of these replied that the comiittec
had heard all the evidence and it was therefore a safe rule
to abide by their findings, and that, as a new member, I should
not run counter to this custome.

#hen one hour remained before the taking of the vote, I
could stand it no longer, and under the time limitation rule
covering the concluding arguments, I took the floor. Up to
this time little general interest was being taken in the argu-
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ments, for with the large Republican majority, and no apparent
split in the party lines, the result seemed certain. On it
becoming manifest that I was speaking in opposition to the
committee's report, I was asked to occupy the middle aisle,
while the leading partisans on elther side grouped themselves
about me. £s a result of this excitement I felt some concerﬁ,
but under the time allowance hoped to be able to epplain why I
intended to cast my vote for the sitting member. When my
time expired it was renewed repeatedly.. Thus I as able, under
many interruptions, to present my views, and to take good
naturedly personalities, although, of course, I was far from
satisfled with the manner in which I was able to meet and
parry the queries designed to embarrass me in every possible
Way e

Ten minutes before the vote was taken, and just after I
concluded speaking, Wayne Parker, a member from New Jersey,
came to my desk saying that the New Jersey delegation was golng
to vote solidly for Howell. I thereupon begged Parker to take
a few of the remaining minutes in behalf of the sitting member,
and wnhile he hesitated, Wm. M. Lamning of New Jersey sald he would
speak, and dld so effectively, for his regularity could not be
questioned. It may be stated that the speaker's probity and
judicial fairness was evidenced a few yeare later when President
Roosevelt appointed him a Federal judge.

I now quote from the Congressional gecord a portion of
the debate in the contested election case, under date of February
oth and 10th, 1904
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CONTESTED-ELECTION GASE-CONNELL VS. HOWELL

Mr. DRISCOLL. Mr. Speaker, by direction of the Committee
on Elections No. 3, and in pursuance of a notice given last
week, I now call up for present consideration the contested-
election case of William Connell v. George Howell, from the
Tenth Congressional district of Pennsylvania.

The SPEAKER. The Clerk will report the resolutione.
The clerk read as follows:
House resolution No 195.

Resolved, That Hon. George Howell was not elected
a Representative in the fifty-eighth Congress
from the Tenth District of the State of Penne
sylvania, and is entitled to a seat therein.
Resolved, That Hon. William Connell was duly
elected a Representative in the Fifty-eighth
Congress from the Tenth District of the State

of Pennsylvania, and 1s entitled to a seat
therein.

Mr. DRISCOLL. The time to be equally divided and to be controlled
by the gentleman from Mississippl on his side and by myself on
this side.

(The two days debate on this subject 1s omitted
except as 1t relates to the author's participation
therein, which follows:)

Mr. McLAINe Mr. Speaker, I yield fifteen minutes to the gentleman
from Pennsylvania (Mr. Shiras).

Mr. SHIRAS. Mr. Speaker, I have examined the majority and
minority reports in this case. I have also locked over the
evidence that was considered material, and I consulted at

a considerable length of time with the majority of the members
that composed the Republican majority in this committee.
Notwithstanding the consideration given to the report of the
majority, I find I am unable to agree in the recommendations
made by my party colleagues. In the first place, permit me to
cay that I do not question for an instant the sincerity of the
gentlemen who compose the majority of this committee. #nyone
who listened to the remarks of the gentleman from Iowa(Mr.
Birdsall) and the chairman of this committee, the gentleman fron
New York(Mr. Driscoll), must be impressed with the fact that these
men believe they are right.

They are also to be credited with the fact that they hadto
deal with one of the most difficull cases in point of extent of
testimony and number of witnesses of any case that has been pres-
ented here for years. ! 3 g :

Now, I do not question their sincerity; and, under ordinary
circunstances, I take it, it 1s the duty of lembers of this House

to follow the suggestions and Pecommendations Hdde byithe majority

iy
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of the committee that has examined a case of this kind. Vhile,
therefore, I do not question the sincerity of my fellow-members

who wrote the majority report, neither do I questlion very

seriously their judgement up to a certain point. When you come

to examine the majority report down to a certain point, it will

be found substantially right, but when they become lmpregnated

with the germs of "aliundesisn" they seem to act, as 1t appears

to me with utter disregard to the law that should control in a case
of this kind. -

In a few moments I shdll refer briefly to the question of
aliunde evidence; but before touching upon that polint I want
to say to my Republican colleagues that this is admittedly a
close case from the standpoint of the majority. There are 6,500
witnesses and 2,500 pages of testimony, and doubtless thousands
and tens of thousands of dollars were spent. And what was the
result? The majority find a plurality of 223 votes in favor of
the contestant out of a total of 28,000 votes cast in that district.
They have taken the position, necessarily, that if there had been
a change of 112 votes in that district Mr. Connell-the contestante
would have been defeated. :

Now, gentlemen, you must remémber that while that is cone
ceded by the majority of the committee representing this side
of the House, the Democrats do not concede that the result was
so close. You must take the situation as it existed there; and
there are equities in the case that seem to me to throw a great
deal on the situation. In the first place, we are told that we
ought to folliow the majority of the commlittee because of the
great volume of testimony taken. Now, gentlemen, let me tell
you those are wooden guns plled up there. If you have listened
to the debate up up to the present time you must have been
satisfied of the fact that the case rests upon a very few pages
of testimony and several very simple propositions of law.

The testimony relied upon here is substantially quoted in
the minority report. If any Member will take the two reports and
go off guietly by himself for an hour and analyze this case,
he will come to 2 conclusion without the necessity of looking
into the testimony further; or if he has listened to the debate
of yesterday, he must in the same way have reached a conclusion
as to how he should vote.

Now, the idea of any Republican here trying to hide behind
that mass of testimony, and saying, "I am unable to delve into
all the depths of this case and come to a conclusion, and I
can satisfy my conscience by following the lead of this committee,‘
is, i1t seems to me, fallacious. Bome gentlemen omthis side under-
take to throw the responsibility on the committee in that way.
They says "I believe the members of the committee to be honest,
conscientious men. They have gone through this mass of testie
mony and we can not do better, under the circumstances, than follow
their conclusion."

On that point I wish your attentlon. The determination of
this case does not require the consideration of the testimony to
any great extent. The testimony upon which the i1ssue here turns
gas been repeadedly read and referred to on both sids of the

ouse. !

lir. DRISCOLL. Does the gentleman mean to say that all the
material evidence has been read?
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Mr. SHIRAS. All the material evidence, the evidence that you
rely upon,. has been mentioned, and its character analyzed and
presented to the House.

Mr. DRISCOLL. We could not do that in a week.

Mr. SHIRAS. When you come to_consider the questions of law
involved here, if you are inclined to give due weight to those
questions, nine-tenths of this testimony must be ruled out
absolutely.

ifre CASSEL. Has the gentleman read the briefs of the contestant and
contestee in this case?

Mr. SHIRAS. I have read the report very carefully three or four
times and have consulted with practically every member of the
majority of the committee except Mr. Driscoll, whom I tried to see
several times. I say the report-

My, CASSEL. I am speaking of the briefs which set forth the case
as presented by the two committees.

Mr. SHIRAS. As I have already said, I have not attempted to
read all the testimony in the case, because I have taken the word
of the majority as well as the minority of the committee that
the material evidence on which they rely has been presented.

I think it can be shown that the great mass of this testi=
mony must be ruled out, not only because 1t comes under the & ===
head of aliunde proof, but because this allunde evidence n
can not be applied, owing to the failure to connect 1t up with
the votes thrown out; and when you come to consider the matter,
therefore, it will befound that a thousand pages of this testi-
mony cannot be properly considered.

liow, let us look at another feature of this case. The
Tenth district of Pennsylvania in 1902 was Democratice. The Denm=
ocratic candidate for governor carried it by some five or six
thousand majority; and before the election every Republican who
kamew anything about the state of the case in that district
knew that #here was very little questlon that the Democratic
Congressional candidate would carry that district, although
ordinarily a Republican district.

Consequently, the Democrats knowing this, and knowing that
they had more than a fighting chance, there was every reason
in the world why they should put forward a representative
Democrat to lead them to the victory which would surely come
to them in that district when the votes were cast in 1902.

Mr. GILBERT. What were the changed conditions that led people
to think it would go Democratic?

Mr. SHIRAS. There was a series of labor strikes growlng out of
the coal business there, and Mr. Connell was one of the lead-

ing coal operators, and it was natural under those conditions
tio.expect reprisals.
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The county of Lackawanna gave the Democratic candidate
for governor between ‘five and six thousand majority. Now,
the Democrats, knowing that this was coming, saw their duty,
and they therefore expected to nominate a Democratic candidate,
because they expected to elect their candidate.

Now what happened? The kind friends of the contestant went
into a lemocratic convention, disrupted it, and, with a very
small minority of the convention apparently, got the Democratic
nomination. Although he is coming here to-day charging a fraud
against the Democracy, he recelved and filed a Democratic cert-
ificate of nomination in Dauphin County. Mr. Howell, who had
the majority of the convention, also recelved a Democratic nomi”
nation, amd that was filed in Dauphin County. A contest arose,™
and the courts of Pemnsylvania®decided that the nomination gilven
to Mr. Connell was illegal and threw him off the Democratic
ticket.

lre. SWANSON. Do you mean he claimed to be the Democratic nominee?

Mr, SHIRAS. Yes.

Mr. GILBERT. What proportion of that convention voted for Mr. Connell?
Mr. OLMSTEDs. Will my colleague permit a question?

Mr. SHIRAS. Yes.

Mr. GILBERT. What proportioﬁ of the Democrats in that conventione-

Mr. SHIRAS. I have yielded to my colleague, Mr. Olmstead.

Mr. OLUSTEDs. I understood you to find fault with the Democratic
convention for nominating or attempting to nominate a Republican.

Mr. GILBERT. As a Democrate.

Mr. SHIRAS. I say Mr. Connell went to a Democratic convention
and was nominated.

Mr. OLMSTEDe. Let me ask my colleague if he himself was not nominated
by a Democratic organization?

Mr. SHIRAS. Yes, and the three other Republican Congressmen in
Allegheny County also received Citizens' nominationg.allre. Dalzell
himself received a Citizens' nomination, although he did not receive a
Democratic nomination. ’

Mr. OLMSTED. Did you receive Democratic support and were you
d ected in that way against the regular Republican nominee? Is

not that a fact?

Mr. SHIRAS. That is not the fact, sir, as stated. I ran as an
avowed Republican, and, as 1s often the case, received several
party nominations.

Mr. ELUTZ. The Democrats did not vote for you, did they?
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Mp. OLMSTED. A good many of them did. (Laughter.)

Mr. SHIRAS. As this matter is becoming a little personal, perhaps
I had better refer briefly to the political situation in Alle-
gheny Countye :Wethave not any Democratic party in Allegheny
County practically, for they have jJoined in the fight for good
government; we have two Republican parties there. If the Demo
crats had run a Democratic candidate in my district against two
Republicans, he would not receive probably more than 4,000 votes
out of the 30,000 votes caste.

Mr. COHNMELL.To which party do you belong?

lMir. SHIRAS. Do not interrupt me. You are on the floor today as a
courtesy heretofore given former members. You must not parti-
eipate in these proceedings, especially as they concern your own
interests.

Vhen the vote was taken there I had 14,500 votes; the other
Republican had about 14,500 votes, so there was but & very small
difference between the two, but the vote that was cast there for
me represented the untrammeled, nonofficeholding vote in my
district. I think I got practically every fairminded Republican
vote in that district in that particular contest. (Laughter.) I
will tell you why I think so.

Mpr. OLMSTED. Then there are 14,500 trammeled Republicans in that
district? (Laughter.)

NMr. SHIRAS. No; but there are many officeholders in that district,
Federal State, and county (laughter), and two or three thousand
relatives. Now, I got few of those votes.

Mr. CASSEL. What has become of the parties that nominated you at
that time? Have not they gone back into the Republican party?

Mr. SHIRAS. I am not going back into the pedigree of Allegheny
County politics. No one can understand them, and I can not
expect the gentleman to under@tand them.

Mr. GILBERT. There is no contest about your seat.

Mr. SHIRAS. The gentleman indicates that I did not represent
the Republicans in my district, intimating that if I did I would
have had a larger majority. oh
Mr. OLMSTED. No; I think it simply shows that you have become one
of the officeholders.

Mr. SHIRAS. You look at it from a different point of view. Now
let me tell you gentlemen about that district. My Republican
opponent ran on the "organization" Republican ticket, on the sane
ticket as Gavernor Pennypacker, on the so-called "straight
Republican ticket." Governor Pennypacker carried the Twenty-
Ninth Congressional district by 20,000 ma jority, and my Repub-
lican State ticket in this Congressional district. Could he have
been more badly defeated?
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lMr. KENNEDY. The same thing occurred over in Lackawanna, did it
not?

Mr. SHIRAS. I am being diverted from what I was sayling.

Mr. GILBERT., Now will the gentleman answer my question? What
proportion of the Democrats in the convention in this Congressional
district were if favor of the nomination of Mr. Connell as the
Democratic nominee?

Mr. THAYERe. Thirty-two out of 1962.

Mr. SHIRAS. Now, gentlemen, you do not want to hear me on what

the Democrate of Allegheny County could, would, or should have

done, or my political pedigree, but it is simply a question of

fact, "Yho was elected?" and you can not see who has been elected, for
“the CoMmittee on Elections has so limited the inquiry that not

over fifteen of the witnesses whose testimony wes taken is mater-

ial to this iscue.

Mr. SIBILEY. Let me call your attention--

Mr. SHIRAS. Let me give the reason, because I do not want to
make a statement and then have to analyze 1t before I go on.

I ctorted to eay that the result of this Democratic convention
was that not only wase Mr. Connellls nomination throwm off the
Democratic ticket, but Mr. Howell, the admitted Democrat,

and whom the Democrate knew had a chance of electlon, was also
thrown off the Democratic ticket.

The SPEAKER. The time of the gentlemen has expired.

Mr. McCLAIN. I will yield the gentleman ten minutes more if he
desires it. :

Mr. SHIRAS. The controversy that arose in this Democratic
convention, in which the contectent desired to carry off the prize,
is not material, or ought not to be, except for one rhace.
Everyone here who is cundld will admit that if lMr. Howell had been
before his district on the straight Democratic ticket, it would
have given him four or five thousand Democratic majority,
and he would have certainly gotten it but for the extraordinary
and peculiar methods of procedure of that Democratic convention.
Therefore I say, gentlemen, the question in this controversy
is as to the alleged Democratic convention, with a Republican
candidate, and an actual Democratic candidate. I take 1t that
all Republican Members here who are in favor of flr play well know
that lr. Howell got 461 majority, instead of the 4,000 or 5,000
he ordinarily would have had. I£ is difficult for thls committee
to show that all these votes were intentionally fraudulent. I
take it that all Republican Members here who are in favor of
fair play will be interested. I take the positlon that in the
consideration of this case there is no doubt that the committee
has failed to fully understand the subgequent effect of this
Democratic convention when figuring upon the majority that Howell
would have had.
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lir. CASSEL. Do you mean to say that the committee, which has given
two weeks' continuous work in going over this evidence and testi-
mony, four weeks almost, commencing at 10 o'clock in the morning
and continuing until 5 o'clock, and glving through their report
their conclusions that they have arrived at, that they do not
know more of it than you, when you say that you have not been able
even to read it?

Mr. SHIRAS. I have been trying to get to the very proposition,
because the bulk, perhaps, of this testimony, showing what you
did, is what has led up to my general proposition, viz, whether
you have established the fact of Mr. Connell being entitled to a
seat under this evidence. Now, what do you do? You find 461
plurality in favor of the Democratic candidate, and you change that
to 223 in favor of the contestant. How do you do that? Up to

a certain point the committee did not go astray. It showed, I
think, good judgement when 1t took up the case of these three
precincts, which they charged to have been, on their face, full
of fraud. To take these up and with careful judgement proceed
to determine how they would get at the fraud and what effect the
fraud had on the general result.

But they did not treat if fairly. 1In the first place, they
found 50 illegal votes of persons who had not paid their taxes,
50 illegal votes of persons who had not registered, and those,
to some extent, were technically illegal votes, but instead of
taking those votes out of 0ld Forge and the Second and Third wards of

Winton, and even charging all against Mr. Howell, what did they
do? They threw out the entire 797 votes, though MricHowéli had
45/ majoritysce oy

§r. McCLAIN. May the gentleman allow me to interrupt him for a
moment just to say I will allow him as much time as he wants and
he can proceed as he desires.

Mr. SHIRAS. Now, that, gentlemen, ies the starting polint of this
cases Here are districts that cast 797 votes that gave Hr.

Howell 625 wvotes and 172 to the contestant, and an admission

that part of these were technlically illegal baliote and not fraud-
ulent in the worst sense. They threw out those 797 votes, and they @
not show in the evidence taken in 014 Forge and in the Second and
Third wards of Winton that any single one-mark mew-that a single
one of those fraudulent votes had been cact for Mr. Howell, but on
the contrary, the only evidence of 1llegal votes cast was that
they were cast for the contestant. Is that not correct, I ask

the gentleman from New York?

Hr. SWANSON. You mean that there was no fraud on the ballot box?

Hp. SHIRAS. I say in the proof they did not attempt to prove any
of those illegal votes had been cast for Mr. Howell.

lir., SWANSON. They were simply people who voted not being properly
registered.

Mr. SHIRAS. There may have been false limpersonations, but I anm

not defending that; I am analyzing how they got at the question
of the separate fraudulent Voteg or assumed illegal votes--
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Mr. GILBERT. They cast that voter to Mr. Howell without any
proofe=-

Ur. SHIRAS. They found nothing, in my judgment, which should lead
to the throwing out of the entire precinets. The result of that
was that Mr. Howell still had 8 majority and then they went back
and by aliunde proof-here is the dangerous point in thelr process,
by aliunde proof-they found that 32 of those T9T7 votes had been
cast for Mr. Connell. Now, what wae the result, gentlemen, of
that finding? It was this; Ahere were three precincts with

797 votes and with the large majority of 454 for Mr. Howell which
were absolutely thrown out. <They destroyed this entire vote,

yet found Mr. Howell elected by 8 majority. They then go back and
go over the embers, you might say, of the destroyed votes and
find 32 for lMr. Gonnell, and turn that Democratic district,

which gave 454 majority for Mr. Howell, over to Mr. Comnell by

a unanimous vote-32 for Connell, nothing for Howell. It seems
incredible.

My, SWANSON Wnich gave that majority?
lr. SHIRAS. Yes.

Mr. DRISCOLL. Will the gentleman yield for a question?
Hr. SHIRAS. Certainly.

Mr. DRISCOLL. Is not that the ordinary practice, that wehn a
dis trict or poll is thrown out for fraud, to go back and prove
vobes cast for both parties by evidence aliunde? Was that not
done in the Fifty-fifth Congress in the case of Wise V. Young
and in many other cases.

My, SHIRAS. I do not think it was ever done under condltions as
they existed in this case.

Mp, DRISCOLL. No two conditions in elections are exactly alike,
but where we throw out votes of certain districts because of
fraud, the practice for both parties is to go back and prove the
votes cast for their candidates aliunde.

Mr. SHIRAS. Now, I want to ask a question in return. 1Is it nd.
a fact that those three districts cast 797 votes, which gave Mr.
Howell a ma jority of 454 votes, and by throwing out those
precinets it still left a majority of 8, and that the action of
the committee in finding those 32 votes put the result in favor
of Iir. Connell?

Mr. DRISCOLL. Why, yes, but=-- (Applause on the Democratic side.)
Oh there is ndihing to cheer about this; we are dealing in facts
here. We stated it yesterday ourselves, and it is not necessary
for a lugwamp from Pennsylvania to state it over again. I
simply say, is it not the invariable rule? Did not lir. Howell
have the same chance to go back and prove his votes in those
districts? Did he not have the same opportunity to prove them
1f he wanted to?

lir. SHIRAS. Now, gentlemen, I am trying to talk about the
equities in this case.
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lir. NORRIS. May I ask the gentleman a question?
Mr. SHIRAE. Certainly.

Mr. NORRIS. In your Jjudgment was the committee justified in
throwing out the three precincts? Do you agree with them in
that?

Mr. SHIRAS. I do not agree with them on that pointe I do

not criticise them very harshly, but I do not agree with them.

What I think they ought to have done is, having found about

125 irregular votes, some technlically irregular and some absolutely
fraudulent, they should have deducted those votes, even if they
deducted them all from Howell. That would have been bad enough,
but to throw them all out was unfair, in my judgment.

Mr. CASSEL. In the report of the Second Ward of Winton, 184 vd es
were cast for Howell and 178 votes were éclared and proved fraudu-
lent. st

Mr. SHIRASe Who found them fraudulént?
Mr. CAS{EL.. They ware shown fraudulent by the evidence.

Mr. SBHIRAS. Now, we find the case stands in this way. That when
they took the disputed districts this great number of votes,
amounting to nearly 800, were thrown out of the three precinects,,
making a unanimous vote for Connell of 32 to nothing. That, if
sustalned, would elect Connell by 24 majority. Now, that does not
look like much of a plurality to come into the House with, with
thousands of pages of testimony at an expense of thousands of
dollars, showing only a plurality of 24. Well, what does the
committee do? They had a tast of "allundeimd', and they then did what,
to my mind, is the one illegal proposition that bars out most of
this testimony. %The testimony wae taken showing that 1,700 1llegal
votes were cast; yes, upward of 2,000 If I am incorrect I wish
the chairman would correct me-=-
lire DRISCOLL. Two thousand and two.
Mr, BHIRAS... Two thousand and two; and when the committee came
to consider these votes they were of the opinion that there were
a number of fraudulent votes, and under aliunde proof they
attempted to show that a great number had been cast for lir. Howell,
and thousande of pages of testimony were taken upon that branch of the
ccases I do not say it was wrong to take the testimony upon that
point, but I say that when the committee came to make the report
they really barred out the testiiony and have prevented its consid-
eration by the House. <hey found, I repeat, that there were 1,700
illegal votes; and whatrdid they do? They file a report in which
they say that "at least 200 votes"--that is the language of the
report--"at least 200" of these votes were cast for Howell.

ilhen they came to make the report, you find that in raund
nunbers they deduct 200 from Howell. Let me show you what that
means. Upon an Investigation of the attitude of the members of
the committee we find that they can not tell who the various
parties were, what their names were, or where they were located.
Is this not most extraordinary? In my mind it is the turning
point in this case. Not only we as Republicans can not know,
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but the pposition is powerless to pass upon the two questions
that arise in each of these 200 casess Was the vote 1lllegal,
and was it cast for Nr. Howell? It is the introduction of this
bad precedent that arouses in the main my opposktion.

Thus, having a§reed that there were 1,700 illegal votes,
and believing that "at least 200" of them were cast for Mr.
Howell, they promptly charge them up and take from his count
200 votes that are not identified by name or voting precinct.

lr. KENNEDY. Why, they were passed upon by the majority of the
conmittee.

Mr. SHIRAS. I would like to ask the gentleman a question. Does
the gentleman mean to say that his committee passed upon these
200 votes and has got them entered on the record, in the minutes,
as 300 voters from certain precincts? And by a vote of the
committee determined that they were illegal?

Mr. KENNEDY. <The committee passed upon 200. In my judgement
there are a thousande

Mr. SHIRAS. I dld not draw the report.
lr. RGNDELL of Texass The coummittee did not pass on the 200

Mr. SHIRAS. I am not saying there were not 200 illegal votes
there. I am not saying that they ought not to be deducted, if
you can prove them, but I say you have to do it in a legal way.
Let me say to the members of the majority of this committee that
when they had a vote that they wanted to deduct from kr.
Howell's count, one.of the gentlemen should have szid, "Mr.
Chairman, I move you that the vote of John Smith, illegal by
false registration or nonpayment of taxes, which vote the evid-
ence shows has been cast for Mr. Howell, shall be deducted from
his count." That should have been put to a vote of the entire
committee, and if the committee affirmatively by its majority
struck that out, the Republicans and Democrats voting upon it,
then that vote should have been taken from the count of Mr. Howell.
But what have you done? You have siuply come to the conclusion=-
all of you, as individuals-that there were "at least 200" illegal
votes out of 1,700 that were cast for Mr. Howell, and you have
deducted them without identifying them by the name of the voter
or voting precinct, a thing I never heard of, even in the "solid
South." Now, unless the members of thls committee can deny what I
say her-that they have taken 200 votes that they can not identify-
it seems to me that 1t shows the dangerous character of the ali-
unde evidence, and it is upon that that this gentleman (pointing)
relies for obtalning his seat.

Mr. CASSELe. Mr. Speaker, let me answer that just here. First, the
menbers of the minority say that these questions were not discussed
by the majority who signed this report. The majority report

was signed by the majority members of this committee, and it

was not submitted to the minority. We passed a resolution b;

vote of the committee stating that we thought that Mr. Connell
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and voted on that question, that vote would not have been thrown
outs

In other words, there was only a majority of a majority
voting upon that question of striking out these votes. The
result is that the committee itself does not know what those 200 votes
epresent. They could not agree and have not agreed on that point.
‘hose votes are si.uply floating in the air, without name or habi-
tation. No one can ldentify those voters. No member of the
comuittee or anyone else can do So.

Mr. CASSEL. I believe that I speak truthfully when I say that

at least four of the six members of the majority of the committee,
after having ~gone over the testimony on the one side and on the
other, were in favor of putting into this report anywhere from 500
to 1,000 of those people.

i

Mr. SHIRAS. It would not have been any worse if you had done so.

Mr. CASSEL. We were satsified, and mipposed the majority of the
committee would be.

Mr. SHIRAS. I am simply asking for fair play in this matter.
I say that unless you show whose votes those 200 were, they ought
not to be thrown out. It seems to me this is only ordinary fair play.

Kr. DRISCOLL. Will the gentleman allow me to ask one more ques-
tion-that is all?

Mr. SHIRAS. Certainly.

Mr. DRISCOLL. If those three districts=the EBecond and Third
wards of Winton and the flrst district of 0ld Forge-are thrown
out, how does that Zeave-tlie vote?. 3 -

Mr. SHIRAS. It leaves the vote8 in favor of Mr. Howell.

Mr. DRISCOLL., Now, is it not true that Mr. Howell did not try to
prove allunde any of the votes cast for him or any of the illegal
votes alleged to have been cast for Mr. Connell? That is true,
is it not?

Mpr. SHIRAS. I will make apractical answer to that question in

this way: It was competent perhaps, for Mr. Howell to prove by
aliunde testimony bhe whole 2,000 votes, and it would have cost hinm
$10,000 or $15,000. That sort of proceeding on the other side

cost the contestant probably $50,000. Such a contest of "ali-
undeisn® would be a farce, and the prize would go to the biggest
purse.

Hr. CRISCOLL. If you have read the evidence, have you any doubt
that at least, we will sy, 10 1llegal vobtes, because that number
would be sufficient, were shown by evidence aliunde but compétent
to have been cast for Mr. Howell? Have you any doubt about that?

kp, SHIRAS, I did notiquite:scgteh:the purport of.the gentleman's
questione
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wias entitled to his seat. The majority then prepared this report
and signed it.

Mr. SHIRAS. Let me ask the gentleman a question--

Mr. JOHNSON. Mr. Speaker, will the gentleman let me make a
statement right here? I do not want to take any of his time.

Mr. SHIR:S. I will yleld to the gentleman.

Mr. JOHNSON. The majority of the committee furnished the minority
of the committee the names of the thirty-two voters whose testi-
nmony was established by aliunde evidence. We are able to examine
them and see for ourselves whether there is anything upon which to
base it.e They do not furnish: us any of the list of the 200 men
that they say illegally voted for Mr. Howell, and we can not ex-
amine that, and the House can not.

Mr. DRISCOLL. Mr. Speaker, I would like to ask right here the
gentleman from South Carolina a question. Is it true that the
majority furnished the minority those thirty-two names? Is it not
true that I asked one member to furnish the namnee that he had
examined to the rest of us, and also to the members of the
minority?

lire JOHNSONe. May I make another statement?

lr. SHIRAS. Mr. upeaker, I have not yielded to the gentlemant
from New York (Mr. rlscoll)

Mr. JOHNSON. May I answer the Gentleman's question?
The SYEAKER. Does the gentleman yieid?
Mr. SHIRAS. Yes, I will yield to the gentleman from South Carolina.

Mre. JOHNSON. The majority of the committee divlded up this work.
That is the reason they do not know any more about it. One man
examined one part of the record and gnother man another. I
examined all of it. That is the difference. (Laughter.) One
member of the committee who made up the list of the 32 aliunde
votes handed that list to the ranking member of the minority of the
committee, and the majority of the committee adopted his work.

Mr. FOSTER of Illinois. ILet me ask this question. Is there any
evidence in the record showing that the 200 votes thus thrown
out were cast for Mr. Howell?

Mr. JOHNSON. We do not know whose votes those 200 were; the names
are not glvene.

Mr. SHIRAS. Now, I should like to make this reply to the gentle-
man from Pernsylvania (Mr. Cassel)., He having admitted that he
and his five colleagues on the committee passed upon these 200
votes; suppose that on the questlion of charging up those votes
for kr. Howell or taking them away from him there had been a
division among those six members of the committee; suppose the
vote had been 4 to 2, then, if the Democratic members had come in
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MR. DRISCOLLe Is there not aliunde evidence sufficient to show
that at least 10 of these illegal votes were cast for Mr. Howell?

MR. SHIRASe I do not think so, upon the evidence.
MR. DRISCOLLe Have you examined 1%?

MR. SHIRASs, I have examined the testimony on which the supporters
of the contestant rely.

MR, DRISCOLLs You have not read it fully; you have not read the
whole of 1t

MR.SHIRASe But you have not identified the voters. That is the
reason I say that this evidence should have been barred out.

MR. FOSTER of Illinois. Has the gentleman any doubt that at
leaat 20 of these votes were cast for Mr. Howell?

MR.SHIRAS. Not the least.

Now, I want to call attention to another point. In these
dsputed districts only 32 votes have been proved for uir. Connell,
Bere 172 are returned. Were the rest of the votes returned for
Mr. Connell, where 172 are returned, legal or illegal? Unless this
question is determined, it seems to me you have not proved any=
thing. The danger that arises in a case of this kind is clearly
shown in respect to these 200 votes. Now Mr. Speaker, I have
taken more time than I expectede This is simply a question of
asking for fair play. I do not belleve it right to delegate
our consciences in a close case like this to the committee and
allow them to determine the whole question of law and of facte I
have no hesitation in coming to the wmnclusion that it is unfair
to the sitting Member, unfair to the Tenth Congressional district,
unfair to the State of Pennsylvania, and unfair to the Republican
party to unseat Mr. Howell. (Loud applause.)

4 few moments after Mr. Lanning and myself, on the ﬁepublican
side, had concluded our remarks the speaker directed that the
roll be called on the motion to award the seat to the contestant,
Gonnell.
As the members voted, it soon became apparent that the
large Republican majority would be greatly reduced or wiped put.
The vote was as follows: Connell 156; Howell 148, so that a
change of four votes would havepermitted the sitting member to

retain his seat.
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Before the roll call a number of Republicans absented themn

selves, while a half dozen more sat in their seats and merely
answered "present" when their names were called. Had a small
fraction of those who refused to vote, as evidence dissatisfaction,
glven their support to Mr. Howell he would not have been ousted.

During the confusion following the announcement of the
resut}, Judge Walter I. Smith of Council Bluffs, Iowa, came
to me and said, "I have been in Congress a number of years, but
this is the first time I had reason to be ashamed of my vote.

Had you opened the attack at the beginning of the proceedings,
inste.d of at the end, it would have given many of us a chénce

to get our bearings. I had definitely pledged my vote to Mr.
Connell and had not courage enough to shift at the last moment."
There were other Hepublicans who did not feel this way, for
General Grosvenor, the doughty old war horse from Ohio, purposely
passed my seat that he might shouf out, "Some day you will regret
having voted for that Democrati" I answered that I “was not
voting for a Democrat but for justice."

It may be stated that my attitude in this contest was
approved by practically all my constituents and the other voters
in the adjoining districts. Later I receilved assurance of a
renomination by the parties that had previously supported me,
vhile 3 message came from the Republican organization that though
it understood I was not a candidate for re-clection, it seemed
certain that if I were I would receive the support of the “‘epub-
lican leaders who did not wish to see me succeeded by my f;rmer
opponent, WeH. Greham;e whose associlation with Governor Stone had
brought him into popular disfavor. On the other hand General

Grosvenor, by reason of a factional row had later been refused a
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renomination for Congress, in his district, and in his resentment

tried to get the Democratic nomination, &n which he faliled, thus
showing that his party fealty was only skin deep.

My two distinguished colleagues who had been elected on the
Citizens' ticket at the time I was, voted for Connell, saying
to me, in explanation, that they hoped to receive the regular
Republican nomination next time, which might be jeopardized if
they voted for a Democrat. These hopes, however, were blasted, for
having become "regular" they were cast aside bf the political
bosces as ones no longer to be feard. I cite these instances as
indicating that blind partisanship, or political timidity, does
not appeal to the electorate at home.

As a sequel to this part of the narrative, 1t may be stated
that when I declined to be a candidate, my personal friend
and political associate, Stephen G. Porter, leader in the Citizens'
party movement, was given the regular Republican nomination for
Congress, over my old rival, W. H. Graham, and was elected by
20,000 majority. Mr. Porter h:ifbeen successlively re-elected by
the people until he served some twenty-five years, attaining the
high position of Chairman of the Committee ofi B_‘oreign Relations.
Thic result indicates how the temporary reform”movement in
Allegheny County broke the political shackles of nearly fifty
yeare, and gave to the voters the opportunity to select cafi

didates standing high in the popular esteem.
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